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I. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF FACTS
The United Shopping Center, which is owned by United Corporation (“United”), has the
large bay or space that was rented to the partnership to operate the Plaza Extra East supermarket,
as well as numerous smaller bays or retail spaces that were rented to other St. Croix businesses.
Rent payments made by tenants were deposited to a checking account maintained by United at
Virgin Islands Community Bank. (“Community Bank™).! The United claims that are designated
as “Y-7” and “Y-9” are based on advances made from United tenant accounts either directly to
Plaza Extra supermarket (partnership) accounts, or to third parties on behalf of the Plaza Extra
supermarkets, principally in the years 1995 to 1998. The Y-7 and Y-9 claims total $199,760 and
$188,132, respectively for a total of $387,892.00.
A. Claim Y-9 — Unreimbursed transfers to Partnership from United
Hurricane Marilyn struck the islands in September 1995, and the partnership was
“absolutely broke” as a result in 1996. See Exhibit 1, 1/21/20 Dep. Tr., p. 239 (testimony of Fathi
Yusuf). The partnership was “deeply needing money” in 1996, and Mr. Yusuf concluded that he
had “to put my rent money into the store....” Id. at 239. United did that by making monthly cash
advances from its tenant account at Community Bank to partnership accounts. See Exhibit 1, p.
194 (testimony of Mike Yusuf). These transfers were made by check and are reflected in ledgers

prepared by United’s then comptroller, Ben Irvin, in the line items called “Plaza Transfers.” See

Virgin Islands Community Bank no longer exists; its assets were purchased by FirstBank of
Puerto Rico on January 28, 2008. See First BanCorp’s Securities and Exchange Commission Form
10K for the period ending December 31, 2007, n. 34, reproduced on the web at:
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1057706/000095014408001536/g11917e10vk.htm
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id. at 193-194; Exhibit 9,> United Tenant Account Ledgers for January-December 1996.> Those
“Plaza transfer” line items are, in turn, backed up by the Community Bank monthly bank
statements showing checks written that correspond in dollar amount, check number and date to the
“Plaza transfer” line items. See Exhibit 9A, Community Bank Statements for January-December
1996. The dollar total of cash transfers from United’s tenant accounts to the partnership accounts
in 1996 is $188,132.00, and this is the amount sought by claim Y-9. See Exhibit 9.

In addition to the transfers that occurred in 1996, documents that were produced to Hamed
in 2013 also show transfers in 1995 and transfers that took place in January-April 1997 and in
April 1998. See Exhibit 10 (monthly accounting records and bank statements showing transfers
in 1997 and 1998) and Exhibit 13 (monthly accounting records showing transfers in February -
August, 1995). Three 1995 transfers are those totaling $120,000 that Mike Yusuf personally made
by check that are reflected in Exhibit 11 and are already part of United’s claim Y-7, and there two
others in 1995 totaling $11,500. The 1997 and 1998 transfers shown in Exhibit 10 total

$54,400. The fact that the 1997 and 1998 transfers were made is, at the very least, relevant to the

’In order to make the discussion and references to deposition testimony easier to follow, United
has retained the exhibit numbers for two exhibits (Exhibits 9 and 11) that were marked in the
depositions in this case conducted on January 21, 2020. The other exhibits attached to this Motion,
including Exhibit 9A, were neither marked nor used in those depositions. Further, Exhibit 9, was
originally made a part of Yusuf’s Accounting Claims and Proposed Distribution Plans (“Yusuf’s
Accounting Claims”) in the section relating to claims on behalf of United (Section III —
Outstanding Debts of the Partnership, Subsection G — Unreimbursed Transfers to Plaza Extra from
United’s Tenant Account) filed on September 30, 2016 and Amended Claims filed on October 30,
2017 as Exhibit I. Likewise, Exhibit 11, was originally part of Yusuf and United’s Claims and
Amended Claims (Subsection E — Additional Ledger Balance Due to United) as Exhibit H.

3The first page of Exhibit 9 is a table prepared by counsel for United which summarizes by month
the dollar amount of all transfers made from the tenant account to Plaza Extra accounts in 1996.
The remaining documents in Exhibit 9 are the monthly accounting summaries prepared by or under
the supervision of Ben Irvin.
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“open account” between United and the partnership that is discussed later in this motion. In
addition, United asks the Master to supplement its claim Y-9 to include the amount of the 1997
and 1998 transfers, $54,400.00, and to include the amount of the 1995 transfers that are not already
captured by claim Y-7, $11,500 that were not included in Claim Y-9 as originally filed. Since the
documents that back up these amounts were previously produced to Hamed, and since United
reserved its right to supplement its claims when it submitted its Claims and Amended Claims,
permitting supplementation would not unfairly prejudice Hamed. See Exhibit 5—Defendant’s
Initial Disclosures dated August 1, 2013 and Notice of Service of Supplemental Disclosures dated
August 23, 2013; Exhibit 9A.

B. Claim Y-7 — Unreimbursed payments from United for Partnership

The amounts that were advanced or transferred from United’s tenant account not directly
to the partnership but to others on behalf of the partnership are shown in a ledger whose
handwritten entries were made by Mike Yusuf to document payments of that kind which he made
himself (usually by writing a check). See Exhibit 1, p. 249-250; Exhibit 11, Ledger Sheets
Reflecting United’s Payments for Plaza Extra. The sum of each of the payments shown on Exhibit
111s $199,760, and this is the Y-7 claim amount. The five largest payments (totaling $190,010),

and the dates they were made are shown as follows on the ledger:

Date Nature of Payment and Payee Amount

5/24/94 Partnership’s Prudential Bache $30,000
Investment Account.

9/23/94 Core States Property St. Thomas $40,010

2/17/95 1993 Property Tax for United $20,000

5/5/95 Peters Farm Investment Corporation $60,000
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8/31/95 1994 Property Tax for United $40,000*

Exhibit 11; see also Exhibit 1, pp. 251-256, 258-259 (testimony of Mike Yusuf).

The partnership placed some of its income in a Prudential securities account, and United
advanced $30,000 for that account, perhaps to cover a margin call. See Exhibit 1, p. 251 (testimony
of Mike Yusuf). The partnership was responsible for paying property taxes to United for the
United Shopping Center where it operated Plaza Extra East. United advanced funds for the
partnership in 1995 to cover payment of 1993 and 1994 property taxes because the supermarkets
were “dry with cash” at that time. Exhibit 1, Tr., p. 269 (deposition testimony of Fathi Yusuf).
Corestates Bank was a bank with branches in the Virgin Islands and the mainland whose assets
were acquired by Banco Popular in August 1993.> The $40,010 apparently was a payment toward
a loan originally made by Corestates on property in St. Thomas owned by the partnership.

Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation (‘“Peter’s Farm™) was created on March 4, 1995 for
the purpose of acquiring, developing, and selling real estate. See Exhibit 2, Articles of
Organization of Peter’s Farm. While Peter’s Farm was originally owned in equal thirds by Fathi
Yusuf, Mohammad Hamed and an individual named Yusuf Jaber, Jaber assigned his shares to
Yusuf and Hamed on October 30, 2002, with the result that Yusuf and Hamed became 50% owners
of the stock of the corporation. See Exhibit 3, 3/4/95 Minutes of Organizational Meeting of Peter’s

Farm; Exhibit 4, 10/30/02 Stock Certificate Assignments to Yusuf and Hamed. Pursuant to a

*As already mentioned, the three 1995 amounts paid from United’s tenant account are backed up
by accounting records prepared by Ben Irvin. See Exhibit 13 - United Tenant Account Ledgers
for February, May and August, 1995.

>See “Fed Approves Bid by Banco Popular de Puerto Rico,” New York Times, August 14, 1993,
sec. 1, p. 35, reproduced on the web at https://www.nytimes.com/1993/08/14/business/company-
news-fed-approves-bid-by-banco-popular-de-puerto-rico.html .

5
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March 4, 1995 stockholder’s agreement, Yusuf and Hamed agreed to loan Peter’s Farm substantial
sums to enable it to purchase and develop properties. See Exhibit 4A, 3/4/2004 Stockholder’s
Agreement, 99 2.2, 2.3.

The $60,000 payment from the United tenant account at Community Bank to Peter’s Farm
on May 5, 1995 was undoubtedly an advance on the loan that Hamed and Yusuf had jointly
committed to make to Peter’s Farm.

II. ARGUMENT

There are no genuine issues of material fact that funds in the amounts of $188,132 and
$199,760 were paid from United tenant accounts to or on behalf of the partnership as shown in
Exhibits 9 and 11. It follows as a straightforward matter that the partnership is liable to United in
those amounts, and that summary judgment should enter in favor of United on claims Y-7 and Y-
9.

Hamed has suggested two procedural defenses to claims Y-7 and Y-9 in his prior motion
to deny those claims, which was denied without prejudice by the Master,® and in deposition.
Hamed’s December 18, 2017 Motion to Deny United Claims Y-6, Y-7 and Y-9 Due to the
Applicable Statutes of Limitations argued that claims Y-7 and Y-9 were barred by the statute of
limitations. In the depositions conducted in January of this year regarding those two claims,
Hamed’s counsel suggested that he would be challenging the authenticity of Exhibit 9, the monthly
ledgers prepared by or under the supervision of United’s former comptroller, Ben Irvin, that
(together with other evidence) support claim Y-9. See Exhibit 1, pp. 191 (objection of Hamed’s

counsel to questioning regarding exhibit 9 on authenticity grounds); see also id. at 194, 206-08.

6See Master’s February 7, 2018 Order.
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A. There is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding the
Authenticity of Exhibit 9 — United tenant account statements and
ledgers for 1996 .

Virgin Islands Rule of Evidence (“V.L.R.E.”) 803(6) sets forth the hearsay exception for
business and other records of regularly conducted activity. Under Rule 803(6), records may be
introduced into evidence when “the testimony of the custodian or another qualified witness” shows
that: (A) the record was made at or near the time by—or from information transmitted by—
someone with knowledge; (B) the record was kept in the course of a regularly conducted activity
of a business, organization, occupation, or calling, whether or not for profit; and (C) making the
record was a regular practice of that activity. To rebut that showing the party opposing the
admissibility of the evidence must “show that the source of the information or the method or
circumstances of preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness.” See V.I.LR.E. 803(6)(D) and (E).

As the Virgin Islands Supreme Court stated in Smith v. Henley, 67 V.1. 967, 977 (V.L
2017), “In order for a document to be admitted as a business record, the person who actually
prepared the document need not have testified so long as other circumstantial evidence and
testimony suggest [the record's] trustworthiness.” (citation and internal marks omitted). The
Supreme Court in Smith rejected as “meritless” the claim that a record is “per se untrustworthy
under Rule 803(6) because the witness did not prepare the documents and because they were
sections of a larger document...” Id. at 979. See also U.S. v. Smith, 609 F.2d 1294, 1301-1302
(9th Cir. 1979) (because “circumstantial evidence” rather than “direct evidence” is sufficient to
establish admissibility of a record under Rule 803(6), admissibility may be established by a witness

who was not employed when the records were created, who “could not have identified” the person


https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000607&cite=USFRER803&originatingDoc=I20df3200be0d11e7a814f1ab34e02c4f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
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who signed them, who “had never seen the exhibits prior to trial,” and who “had no independent
recollection of the facts contained in them”).

Mike Yusuftestified in deposition that Ben Irvin was United’s comptroller and created and
maintained records like Exhibit 9 showing payments from United’s tenant account. See Exhibit 1,
pp. 192-193, 196. While Mike Yusuf did not have a recollection of payments in the specific
amounts shown on Exhibit 9 being made, he did recall having written checks from United’s tenant
account to the partnership account (id. at 194-195) and to other persons or entities shown on
Exhibit 9 (id. at 207-208). In addition, the name “Ben” appears in the electronic file name shown
at the top of a number of the pages of the monthly ledgers that comprise Exhibit 9.

The other piece of evidence that confirms the trustworthiness of Exhibit 9 is Exhibit 9A,
the Virgin Islands Community Bank (“Community Bank”) monthly statements for January
through December 1996. The monthly ledgers that make up Exhibit 9 each refer to Community
Bank Account 182-600135 as the tenant account. See Exhibit9. Mike Yusuftestified in deposition
that, when the FBI conducted its raid and seized supermarket records in October 2001, it collected
the Community Bank records. See Exhibit 1, pp. 208-209. In response, counsel for Hamed stated
that “I’ve been through the FBI records you got, there’s no such thing. There’s no Community
Bank records.” Id. at p. 209. Hamed’s counsel was mistaken. The Community Bank statements
for 1996 were, in fact, produced to Hamed by United’s prior counsel, Joe DiRuzzo at the outset of
the case in 2013, and, moreover, those documents bear “072” FBI bates stamp numbers among
others. See Exhibit 5—Defendant’s Initial Disclosures dated August 1, 2013 and Notice of
Service of Supplemental Disclosures dated and August 23, 2013; Exhibit 9A. The “072” bates

numbers, inter alia, appear on the scans of seized documents in the FBI hard drive that it furnished
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to the parties in the criminal case in 2011.7 The circumstantial evidence is more than adequate to
establish the trustworthiness of Exhibit 9. The authenticity arguments made by Hamed, which
were based primarily on his counsel’s incorrect unsworn assertion that the VI Community Bank
statements did not exist, cannot preclude entry of summary judgment in United’s favor as to claim
Y-9. For these same reasons, the trustworthiness of Exhibits 10 and 13 can also be readily shown.

B. The Statute of Limitations Has Not Run on the Y-7 and Y-9 Claims.

The ledgers that comprise Exhibits 9 and 11 constitute what is known as an “open account”
between United and the partnership. An open account is an arrangement between two parties in
which they “intend that the individual transactions [between them] in the account be considered as
a connected series, rather than as independent of each other, subject to a shifting balance as
additional debits and credits are made, until one of the parties wishes to settle and close the account, and

where there is but one single and indivisible liability arising from such series of related and reciprocal debits
and credits.” Matter of Estate of Vanderpool, 2010 WL 1141826, *1 (V.I. Super. 2010) (citation and
internal marks omitted).

The statute of limitations on an open account depends on the nature of the arrangement
between the parties. If it is contractual, the limitations period is 6 years. See Matter of Estate of

Vanderpool, supra, at *2. But if the arrangement is not based on either an implied or express

7 The index of the FBI Bates numbers is over 881 pages long and lists approximately 150 bates
numbers on each page for a total of over 132,150 bates numbered documents. See Exhibit 5. This
index and all of those documents produced in the criminal case were produced in this case by
United and Yusuf’s former counsel, Joseph DiRuzzo on August 1, 2013. Id. The FBI bates
numbers either bear a particular bates label with an eagle or typically follow the same format of:
three digits — four digits. /d. Relevant to this motion, those documents reflecting the United tenant
account ledgers and Community Bank records have the initial pre-fix “0717, “072” or “065”
followed by a four digit designation Bates numbers. /d. Those are the Bates numbers used by the
FBI. Id.
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contract, it will be governed by the residuary limitations period, which is 10 years. See id. at *2;
5 V.I.C. § 31(2)(a). Under the statute of limitations analysis set forth in this brief, Hamed’s
limitations defense fails as a matter of law whichever limitations period applies. But to the extent
that it matters, United believes the appropriate statute of limitations is 10 years on the open account
between it and the partnership, because there was neither an express nor implied contract between
United and the partnership with respect to the advances United made for or on the partnership’s
behalf.

Pursuant to 5 V.I.C. § 33, the statute of limitations on an open account begins to run not
from the date of each item on the account, but instead from the date of the /ast item on the account.
As section 33 provides:

In an action to recover a balance due upon a mutual, open, and current account, where
there have been reciprocal demands between the parties, the cause of action shall be
deemed to have accrued from the date of the last item proved in the account on either
side; but whenever a period of more than one year shall elapse between any of a series
of items or demands, they are not to be deemed such an account.
Here, the date of the last entry on the open account between United and the partnership is April,
1998. See Exhibit 10. See also Exhibit 15 — Chart showing Claim Y-7 and Y-9 Summaries of
Funds Transferred from United Tenant Accounts to Plaza Extra that Comprise Open Account. The
six or ten-year limitations period commenced on that date, which in the absence of an applicable
tolling doctrine would mean that United should have sued the partnership by April, 2004 or April

2008. Both dates precede September 17, 2012, the date when United is deemed to have brought

its claims against the partnership.® However, the doctrine of equitable tolling stops or “arrests the

8See Judge Brady’s July 21, 2017 Memorandum Opinion and Order, pp. 4-5 (stating that the
counterclaim filed in this case is treated as if it were filed on the date Hamed commenced this
case).

10
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running of the statute of limitations after a claim has accrued.” MRC Development, LLC v.
Whitecap Investment Corp., 2014 WL 646153, *7 (D. V.I. 2014). The statute of limitations will
be equitably tolled where, inter alia, “extraordinary circumstances” create an “impediment outside
of the plaintiff’s control” that prevents it from filing suit. /d. at *7. The Virgin Islands Supreme
Court has held that a plaintiff who wishes to avail itself of the doctrine of equitable tolling must
show that it acted with diligence in pursuing his rights and that “some extraordinary circumstance”

prevented it from bringing suit earlier. See Thomas v. V.I. Bd. of Land Use Appeals, 60 V.1. 579,
588-89 (V.1. 2014).

United maintains that there are at least four extraordinary circumstances or impediments
beyond United’s control that prevented it from bringing claims against the partnership in 2004 or
2008 on the Y-7 and Y-9 claims, and tolled the statute of limitations on those claims. They are:

1) The pendency of the criminal case;
2) Most of the documents evidencing the open account were seized by the FBI and

not returned until late 2011;

3) There was no recognized partnership entity to sue in 2004 or 2008, and Yusuf
had no reason to effectively sue himself in any event; and

4) Yusuf was the partner who managed the finances of the partnership, and his
decision to defer payment of the amount owed by the partnership on its open account with

United benefitted the partnership.

1. The Pendency of the Criminal Case.

The criminal case brought by the United States against United Corporation for under-

reporting and failing to pay gross receipts taxes and income taxes owed on revenues from the

supermarket business was filed in the District Court on September 18, 2003. The theory of that

11
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prosecution was that United, a corporation owned by Fathi Yusuf and his family members—and not
a Hamed/Yusuf partnership—owned and operated the Plaza Extra supermarkets and was
responsible for paying taxes on store revenues. The criminal defense lawyers instructed Yusuf
and the other defendants not to take any action that would support the existence of a partnership,
and thereby draw Mohammad Hamed (who was not named in the indictment) into the criminal
case. See Exhibit 6, April 15, 2020 Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, § 4. Had Yusuf disregarded the
advice of his and the Hamed sons’ criminal lawyers and brought a lawsuit against his and Hamed’s
partnership regarding the balance owed by it on the open account, he would not only have
compromised the defense of the criminal case, but also exposed Mohammad Hamed to criminal
prosecution.

Moreover, all of the Plaza Extra accounts were frozen by an injunction entered
contemporaneously with the filing of the criminal case in September 2003, and that injunction was
not lifted until February 9, 2015. See Exhibit 7, Order in Criminal Case Lifting Injunction;
Exhibit 12, Yusuf’s June 6, 2014 Declaration, §4.° While the injunction had been relaxed
sufficiently to make a lawsuit viable in 2012, id. at 4[5, for United to have filed a lawsuit before
that would have been fruitless, at the very least, because the injunction would have barred the

payment from supermarket accounts of any settlement or judgment.

Fathi Yusuf’s June 6, 2014 Declaration was first submitted in connection with Defendants’ June
6, 2014 Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment on the Statute of
Limitations Defense. Judge Brady’s April 27, 2015 opinion and order awarding United rent for
the 1994-2004 time period relied on grounds other than those asserted here to reject Hamed’s
statute of limitations defense.

12
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2. Most of the Relevant Documents Were Seized by the FBI in 2001.

When the FBI conducted its raid on the stores in September 2001, it seized Exhibits 9, 9A,
10 and 13 as is evidenced by the fact that each of them bear the trademark FBI bates stamp numbers
(the sequence of numbers beginning, for example, with “071” or “072”). These records were not
returned, at the earliest, until some time in 2011, as part of a voluminous and very disorganized
FBI hard drive. See Exhibit 12, 48. Even if the pendency of the criminal case did not preclude
United from filing suit, the lack of records made it impossible for United to have drafted a proper
complaint against the partnership in 2004 or 2008.

3. The Partnership Was Not Recognized in 2004 and 2008.

Until Judge Brady made his preliminary finding in April 2013 that there was a partnership
agreement between Hamed and Yusuf within the meaning of the Revised Uniform Partnership,
and that it was enforceable despite not being in writing, no enforceable partnership between Hamed
and Yusuf had been recognized. Hamed’s claim that half of the United accounts belonged to his
father, despite owning no shares in United, had no judicial support of any kind, had never been
asserted in the criminal case and was inconsistent with the U.S. Attorney’s theory of prosecution
in that case. United had absolutely no reason to bring suit in 2004 or 2008 to make sure that funds
in one of its accounts (the tenant account) were paid back to another of its accounts (Plaza
operating accounts).

And even it if had been able to foresee then that a court would make a preliminary finding
that, despite being held by United, the supermarket accounts should be treated as if they were held
by a partnership in which Mr. Yusuf and Mohammad Hamed were equal partners, there was still
no reason for United to bring suit then. Judge Brady found in a 2017 opinion that Yusuf was the

managing partner in charge of the finances of the partnership. See Hamed v. Yusuf, 69 V.1. 168,

13
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175, n.4 (V.I Super. 2017) (finding that “Yusuf acted as the managing partner” and that Hamed
was “completely removed from the financial aspects of the business”) and 69 V.I. 189, 215 (V.L
Super. 2017) (“As managing partner,...[1]t was Yusuf's responsibility to oversee, account for, and
periodically reconcile the distributions of funds between the partners”). As managing partner,
Yusuf surely would have had the authority to determine when the partnership should reconcile its
open account with United. It would hardly have been necessary for him to have a corporation he
controlled bring suit against a partnership in which he was a 50% partner in order to get advances
repaid. Rather than effectively suing himself, if United had had any reason to believe in 2004 or
2008 that Hamed would later take the position that the partnership’s liability to United was not
enforceable, he would have simply directed the partnership to repay those sums.

4. Yusuf’s Decision to Delay Repayment of Monies Owed to United’s
Tenant Account Was for the Benefit of the Partnership.

As Fathi Yusuf stated in his declaration submitted with United’s motion for summary
judgment seeking rent owed for the 1994 to 2004 time period , Mr. Yusuf allowed rent to accrue
for substantial periods of time in order to provide working capital for the partnership. See Exhibit
12, 92. Delaying repayment of the balance due on the open account with the partnership served
the same purposes. See Exhibit 1, Tr. pp. 197, 269 (testimony of Fathi Yusuf and Mike Yusuf);
Exhibit 6, 4. Yusuf, in his capacity as president of United, could have sought repayment at any
time, and his capacity as managing partner could have made repayment at any time. The fact that
he postponed that repayment to promote the economic interests of the partnership is another reason
why equitable tolling applies here and stops the running of the statute of limitations.

United had no reason to know in 2004 or 2008 that Hamed would later attempt to avoid

liability for a debt to the partnership on the basis that United should have sued to recover it long

14
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before 2012. As mentioned above, Mr. Yusuf did not need to bring suit to collect on the debt; he
could have directed that it be paid by Plaza Extra. His failure to cause the repayment to be made
in May 2004 or May 2008 is not the result of any lack of diligence on his part, but instead, is the
result of his desire to help the Plaza Extra business, and his justified belief that Hamed would
honor the debt.

When Mr. Yusuf learned (after return of the FBI hard drive) that Mohammed Hamed and
his sons were not persons of character and concluded that they had been stealing from the
supermarket business, he took prompt action to dissolve the partnership by having his then
attorney, Nizar DeWood, send a letter to Mohammad Hamed giving notice of dissolution of the
partnership and a proposed dissolution agreement. See Exhibit 8, February 10, 2012 Notice of
Dissolution and Proposed Agreement of Dissolution. When negotiations for a wind up broke
down, Hamed filed the instant lawsuit, and United’s counterclaim represents the filing of its
lawsuit on the Y-7 and Y-9 claims.

Any of the above four considerations discussed in 1-4 above would, by itself, constitute an
extraordinary circumstance or an impediment outside of United’ control that precludes the running
of the statute of limitations on claims Y-7 and Y-9. Collectively, they make that conclusion
unassailable.

III. United’s Statement of Undisputed Material Facts.

1. The United Shopping Center, which is owned by United Corporation (“United”)
and located in St. Croix, has 36 bays or retail spaces. See Exhibit 14 (Floorplan of United
Shopping Center). Bay 1, the largest bay, was occupied by Plaza Extra-East under a rental
agreement with United. Bays 5 and 8 were sometimes rented to third parties, but more often used

to store Plaza Extra inventory. The remaining Bays were rented to third parties. See Exhibit 14.
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2. Rental payments from tenants at the United Shopping Center were placed in an

account at Community Bank, whose account number was 0182600135 (“United’s tenant
account”). Exhibit 9A contains Community Bank monthly statements for January through
December 1996. Exhibit 10 contains, among other documents, monthly accounting records and
corresponding Community Bank monthly statements for January-April, 1997 and April, 1998.

3. Judge Brady ruled in an April 27, 2015 Opinion and Order that United was entitled
to rent for Bay 1 for the 1994 to 2004 time period in the amount of $3,999,679.73, notwithstanding
Hamed’s statute of limitations defense. April 27, 2015 Opinion and Order, p. 10.

4. Hurricane Marilyn struck the islands in September 1995, and the partnership was
“absolutely broke” as a result in 1996. See Exhibit 1, 1/21/20 Dep. Tr., p. 239 (testimony of Fathi
Yusuf). Because the partnership was in dire need of cash in 1996, Mr. Yusuf concluded that he
had “to put my rent money into the store....” Id. at 239.

5. United’s comptroller, Ben Irvin, prepared monthly ledgers for United’s tenant
account which reflected the activity in the account including payments made from United’s tenant
account and reconciled this activity with the Community Bank monthly bank statements, and these
are included in Exhibit 9. See Exhibit 1, pp. 193-194 (testimony of Mike Yusuf). These monthly
ledgers show transfers from United’s tenant account to Plaza Extra supermarket (partnership)
accounts. These transfers are marked in red on Exhibit 9 and in the corresponding Community
Bank statements that make up Exhibit 9A. The sum of the 1996 transfers is $188,132.00. See
Exhibit 9, p. 1 (setting forth the tabulation of amounts transferred).

6. Additional monthly ledgers were prepared in 1995, 1997 and 1998 showing
amounts paid from United’s tenant account to a Plaza Extra (partnership) account. See Exhibits 6,

10 and 13. These were prepared by Ben Irvin or at his direction as he served as the Comptroller
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in the 1990’s until early 2000’s. See Exhibit 6 - Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, § 1. The accounting
records showing payments or transfers from United’s tenant account, along with the corresponding
monthly bank statements reflecting those same transfers, are attached as Exhibit 10 (with
highlighting of transfers in both sets of documents). Three of the 1995 transfers are those totaling
$120,000 that Mike Yusuf personally made by check that are reflected in Exhibit 11 and are
already part of United’s claim Y-7, and there are two others totaling $11,500. See Exhibits 11 and
13. In 1997, transfers took place on January, February, March and April, 1997 and April, 1998,
in the amounts of $44,400 and $10,000, respectively. See Exhibit 10.

7. In addition to the monthly ledgers showing transfers from United’s tenant account
to Plaza Extra, Mike Yusuf kept a handwritten ledger showing those payments that he was directly
involved in making from United’s tenant account to third parties on behalf of Plaza Extra (the
partnership). See Exhibit 1, p. 250 (testimony of Mike Yusuf); Exhibit 11. That handwritten
ledger shows 9 payments made in 1994, 1995, and 1998, the purposes of which are described in
Mike Yusuf’s deposition testimony. See Exhibit 11; Exhibit 1, pp. 250-257. Those payments total
$199,760. The corresponding Community Bank records for 1995 also reflect these payments. See
Exhibit 13.

8. The criminal case brought by the United States against United Corporation et al
was commenced on September 18, 2003, following a September 2001 FBI raid of the Plaza Extra
stores and residences of the individual defendants.

0. The theory of the prosecution was that United Corporation, a corporation owned by
Fathi Yusuf and his family members—and not an undocumented, oral Hamed/Yusuf partnership—
owned and operated the Plaza Extra supermarkets and was responsible for paying income and

gross receipts taxes on store revenues. The criminal defense lawyers instructed Yusuf and the
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other defendants not to take any action that would support the existence of a partnership, and
thereby draw Mohammad Hamed (who was not named in the indictment) into the criminal case.
See Exhibit 6, Declaration of Fathi Yusuf, q 4.

10.  All of the Plaza Extra accounts were frozen by an injunction entered
contemporaneously with the filing of the criminal case in September 2003, and that injunction was
not lifted until February 9, 2015. See Exhibit 7, Order in Criminal Case Lifting Injunction; Yusuf’s
June 6, 2014 Declaration, 94.

11.  When the FBI conducted its raid on the stores in September 2001, it seized
thousands of documents, including the documents attached to this opposition as Exhibits 9, 9A
and 10. The index of the FBI Bates numbers is over 881 pages long and lists approximately 150
bates numbers on each page for a total of over 132,150 bates numbered documents. See Exhibit
5. This index and all of those documents produced in the criminal case were produced in this case
by United and Yusuf’s former counsel, Joseph DiRuzzo on August 1, 2013. Id. The FBI bates
numbers typically follow the same format of: three digits — four digits. /d. Relevant to this motion,
those documents reflecting the ledgers and Community Bank records have the initial pre-fix “071”,
“072” or “065” followed by a four digit designation Bates numbers. /d. Those are the Bates
numbers used by the FBI. /d. At the earliest, the FBI did not return these records to United until
some time in 2011, as part of a voluminous and very disorganized FBI hard drive. See Exhibit
12, 98.

12.  Judge Brady found in a 2017 opinion that Yusuf was the managing partner in charge
of the finances of the partnership. See Hamed v. Yusuf, 69 V.I. 168, 175, n.4 (V.I. Super. 2017)
(finding that “Yusuf acted as the managing partner” and that Hamed was “completely removed

from the financial aspects of the business”) and 69 V1. 189, 215 (V.I. Super. 2017) (“As managing
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partner,...[i]t was Yusuf's responsibility to oversee, account for, and periodically reconcile the
distributions of funds between the partners™). As managing partner with these responsibilities, Mr.
Yusuf had discretion to determine when the open account between United and the Plaza Extra
supermarkets should be reconciled -- i.e., when Plaza Extra should repay to United’s tenant
account all advances made by United to or on behalf of the supermarket business.

13. The amounts paid or advanced to or on behalf of Plaza Extra from United’s tenant
account (and backed up by Exhibits 9, 9A, 10 and 13 and other evidence cited herein) are listed in
Exhibit 15, by payment amount and by date for all of the amounts claimed in Y-7 and Y-9, as well
as the additional amounts in 1995, 1997 and 1998, which were not previously captured.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED
For all of the foregoing reasons, Defendant United Corporation requests the Master to grant

its Motion for Summary Judgment on Claims Y-7 and Y-9 in the total amount of $387,892.00.

Respectfully submitted,
DUDLEY NEWMAN FEUERZEIG LLP

DATED: April 15, 2020 By:  s/Charlotte K. Perrell

GREGORY H. HODGES (V.I. Bar No. 174)

CHARLOTTE K. PERRELL (V.I. Bar No. 1281)

P.O. Box 756

St. Thomas, VI 00804

Telephone:  (340) 774-4422

Facsimile: (340) 715-4400

E-Mail: ghodges@dnfvi.com
cperrell@dnfvi.com

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation
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Jeffrey B.C. Moorhead, Esq.
JEFFREY B.C. MOORHEAD, P.C.
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED,
the Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Deft.,

VS.

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED
CORPORATION,

Defendants/Counterclaimants,

VsS.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED,
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Counterclaim Defendants.

as the Executor of

and

WALEED HAMED,
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff,

VsS.

UNITED CORPORATION, Defendant.

as Executor of the

WALEED HAMED,
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Plaintiff,

VS.

FATHI YUSUF, Defendant.

as Executor of the

FATHI YUSUF, Plaintiff,
VsS.
MOHAMMAD A. HAMD TRUST, et al.,
Defendants.

KAC357 Inc., Plaintiff,
vsS.

HAMED/YUSUF PARTNERSHIP,

Defendant.
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Case No. SX-2012-Cv-370

DEPOSITIONS TAKEN:
JANUARY 21, 2020

Consolidated with
Case No. SX-2014-Ccv-287

Consolidated with
Case No. SX-2014-Cv-278

Consolidated with
Case No. ST-17-Cv-384

Consolidated with
Case No. ST-18-Cv-219




THE VIDEOTAPED ORAL DEPOSITIONS OF FATHI YUSUF,
MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED "WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF,
MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED, AND JOHN GAFFNEY
was taken on the 21st day of January, 2020, at the Law
Offices of Joel H. Holt, 2132 Company Street, The Alcove
Room, Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, between
the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 5:09 p.m., pursuant to Notice

and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Reported by:

Susan C. Nissman RPR-RMR
Registered Merit Reporter
Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
(340) 773-8161
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A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S

For the Plaintiffs:

Law Offices of

Joel H. Holt

2132 Company Street, Suite 2
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Joel H. Holt

and

Carl J. Hartmann, III

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L6
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820

By: Carl J. Hartmann, IITI
Kim Japinga

For the Defendants:

Law Offices of

DNF

Law House

P.0O. Box 756

Charlotte Amalie, St. Thomas
U.S. Virgin Islands 00802

By: Charlotte Perrell

Also Present: Michael Gelardi, Videographer
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MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

transfers from the tenant account to the United Plaza
partnership account?
A. Yes.
Q. Okay.
MR. HARTMANN: Excuse me. I'm just going to
object on the basis of authenticity. You go ahead.
Q. (Ms. Perrell) Okay. Well, let me go back.
Are you familiar with the Virgin Islands
Community Bank statements?
A. Yes, yes.
Q. Okay. And these documents, beginning with the

bottom number that says FY, I'm just going to go to the last

three numbers, 9 -- 14966, do you see that?
A, Yes.
Q. Does that document purport to be, and do you

recall it being, a statement from the Virgin Islands
Community Bank?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And if you could look through the rest of
them, the rest of the documents in this, do those all
similarly look like documents -- are they from the Virgin
Islands Community Bank?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. Okay. Now, I notice at the top, there's some

information that says G/L. And like it will have a number

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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or something. Do you see that? Go a couple pages in. For
example, here.

A. Um—-hum.

Q. All right. Are these -- are you sure that these
are from the Virgin Islands Community Bank, or are these

some kind of an internal document that is generated?

A. Yeah, it could be. I'm not sure.

0. Okay.

A. Yeah, I'm not sure now.

Q. So let me ask you this: Do you -- do you know if

these are bank statements, or whether these are actually
just in an internal log or ledger of -- of the payments that
were made out of the tenant account?

A. Yeah, now I'm confused. These are ledgers for the
tenant account.

Q. Okay.

A. Yes, this was all the expenses or money come out
of the tenant account.

Q. Okay. So let's just clarify.

So rather than being a bank statement, you

know, that the bank generates, do you -- what do you believe

these to be? Not from the bank?

A. No.
Q. Where are these from?
A. I think these are from the accountant that

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

193

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

generated 1it.
Q. Okay. And do you remember who the accountant was

back in 199672

A. Well, looking up here, it's Ben, Ben Irvin --
Q. Okay. So --

A. -- at that time.

0. Okay.

A. Yeah.

Q. So Ben Irvin was the accountant for the tenant

account, or was you just an accountant for United,

generally?
A. He was for United, generally.
0. Okay.

A. Comptroller, we call it.

Q. Okay. And he would have had access to the tenant,

or at least knowledge of what was going on in the tenant
account?
A. Yes. He -- he kept records of everything, yes.
Q. Okay. And then -- but would he have signatory

authority for --

A. No.
Q. Okay. So the -- then let me back up here.
For the amounts that were transferred over,
the -- let's say -- let's go about the first one, the

15,900, do you have any particular recollection as to why

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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there was a transfer for 15,900 to Plaza partnership

account?
A. We -- we —-- this is in 1996.
Q. Yes.
A. 1996, I know we were -- were tight, really, really

tight for money.

0. Okay.

A. And when we had extra money in the tenant account,
we would transfer it over to the Plaza account.

Q. Okay. Was that for helping with operating
expenses, or what was the purpose of transferring?

A. With helping with operating expenses, I believe.

0. Okay. All right.

MR. HARTMANN: Let me -- excuse me. Just let
me make a continuing -- I won't interrupt anymore. I'l1l
just make a continuing objection on foundation and
authenticity.

Q. (Ms. Perrell) All right. Other than -- let me ask
you this: So this one is a specific amount, 15,900.

Do you have -- let me ask you, what would
have -- first of all, do you have any recollection of this
particular entry?

A. No. I don't have recollection of the amounts, no.
Q. Okay. How would you know what transfers to make

and the amounts to make?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. I don't remember who it was told from to transfer
it.

Q. Okay. Would it have -- okay. So who are the
possible people that would have told you to do the transfer?

A. It could be Wally or Ben Irvin.

Q. Okay. All right. And if Ben Irvin had access to
at least see both accounts, he would know whether the Plaza
Extra East was low?

A. Right.

Q. Okay. And then the -- the -- would that be the
same with all of the other amounts that were transferred
over to the Plaza store?

A. Correct.

0. Okay. Other than 1996, do you recall any other
times where there were amounts going from the Plaza
United -- I'm sorry, from the United tenant account into the
Plaza Extra partnership account? When you were doing these
transfers back and forth, do you recall that?

A. No, no, these are all the checks going into --
directly to the -- the operating account for Plaza.

Q. Okay. Other than in 1996 -- these are just 1996.

A. Right.

Q. Other than 1996, there seem to be quite -- it
happened regularly. Other than 1996, was that something

that was occurring?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. I don't remember.

Q. Okay.

A. I don't remember. I mean, I was dependent on Ben
Irvin to keep the record with the -- with the tenant
account.

0. Okay. All right. All right. And you're not
aware of any other records that would reflect transfers
going from the tenant account into the Plaza Extra
partnership account?

A. No.

Q. Okay. All right. And just to be clear, you would
have been the one person who would have either been
signing -- you're saying these are checks, right, because

there's a check number?

A. Yeah, yeah. I would be the one that signs them.
I don't think -- either me or my dad, but my dad wasn't
here.

Q. Okay.

A. He was not in St. Croix. And if he came, he came

for the weekend and went, but that's about it.

Q. Okay. All right. With regard to these amounts,
would this have been information that -- well, let me ask
you this: Why would those -- you know, it's almost

$188,000, why was that amount not settled and paid back to

United before all of this dispute arose?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A. Well, you know, I -- I -- I thought Ben Irvin is

taking care of all this --

Q. Um-hum.

A. -- and how he treats it and all that, but I don't
know.

0. Okay. So was there any reason to believe that --

that the partnership would not ultimately reimburse United
tenant account?

A. You know, anything that we did, or United did for
the Plazas, we never settled anything, like reimburse the
tenant --

Q. Um—-hum.

A. -— or —-- or United for many, many years. We
never -- the store always used it, the money to grow or buy
property or do different things.

Q. Okay. So the store benefited from having that
cash come in?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. All right.

A. And T want to add to that, at that time, we just
had opened the St. Thomas store.

Q. Um-hum.

A. And then we opened the East store. St. Thomas
store was not making any money. The East store just opened,

so the stores were in need of cash.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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A, No, not -- not 15,900.

Q. Okay. And at the time, from '90 -- let's start at
'96 and go to 2001. From '96 to 2001-ish, as your counsel
has said, there was a -- there was a gigantic money
laundering operation going on, right? We're now past the
statute of limitations. We can now talk about what was
really happening here.

So during this time, people were taking out
vast amounts of money, hundreds of thousands of dollars in
cash and otherwise and moving it to other places; is that
correct? Everybody. I mean, Wally was doing it. Your
father was doing it.

MS. PERRELL: I'm going to object that it's
got no relevance with regard to this claim relating to the
tenant account.

MR. HARTMANN: Well, he just testified that
they had a lot of money in the tenant account. I'm going to
tie those two things together, but you can answer.

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) I'm just -- I'm just saying it was
a general -- well, here, let me do it this way: I'm going
to hand you what's been marked as Exhibit 10.
(Deposition Exhibit No. 10 was
marked for identification.)
Would you make that 10? Would you make that

10? This is a —-- it's a document that was filed by the

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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government in the -- in the criminal case. And I'd ask you
to turn over to the page that says at the top, 1996.
It's -- at the bottom, it says FY 009995.

Okay. First of all, have you ever seen this
document before?

A. Probably did, but I don't -- I don't remember.

Q. Okay. Okay. But you know that at same point in
the criminal case, the government did an analysis of the
years '96 through 2001, and they figured out if you look in
that first column, it says A.

A. Yeah.

Q. They figured out in the first column that -- that
you made a total of $44,900,133.37 in actual sales. And
that you reported thirty-six thousand, eight hundred
eighty-six thousand, three hundred and ninety-four dollars
(sic) in gross receipts tax amounts and paid tax on that
amount, which meant, where that B is, that there was
$8,103,738.77 that was Jjust, for lack of a better word,
missing. It —-- it never got reported to the government and
it never got run through a checking account, or what was the
bank here? It never got run through Virgin Islands
Community Bank; is that correct?

A. Okay. And what's your point?

Q. No, I'm just asking you.

A. Yeah, I understand that, but --

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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MS. PERRELL: One thing I would object to is
I don't recall that the Plaza Extra accounts were the Virgin
Islands Community Bank. The -- the partnership.

MR. HARTMANN: They didn't. On a unitary
basis. It was all the accounts together.

MS. PERRELL: Okay. I would just object.

MR. HARTMANN: No, no, that's okay.

MS. PERRELL: I think that's a misstatement
of fact.

MR. HARTMANN: You can make the objection.

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) So -- and then in '97, the next
page, which ends in 008, there was $5,800,000. 1In '98,
there was $15,487,000. And in '99, there was $15,090,000.
2000, there was $16 million. And in 2001, there was
$11 million. All of this money that the combined entities
took in and was unreported in taxes.

And you said that this money was paid out of
the -- the tenant account from -- from rents. How do you
know that none of that $40 million went to -- to the Yusufs
and that they didn't use that money to transfer this?

In other words, I understand this is
something that Ben did, but Ben was kind of in on the deal,
right? Ben was part of the money laundering thing.

A. I don't know, but, you know, it clearly says here.

It's a check number, and it clearly says here, Plaza

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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transfer.
Q. Oh, no, no, no. I -- I understand that a check --
A. So the only place a check can go to is to the

operating account --

Q. No, I -- I agree.

A. -- for the -- for the grocery store.

Q. I agree.

A. Where it go, if we launder it or we give it away

or we spit on it, it went from the tenant account to benefit
both parties.
Q. Right, but how did it get into the tenant account?

A. By check. Everything here is listed by check.

Q. No, no, no, this is money going out of the tenant
account.

A. Correct.

Q. What I'm saying is, how did that money get into

the tenant account?

A. How?

In other words —-

A. Generated --

Q. -— you took $40 million --

A. Uh-huh.

Q. —-- that you never reported.

A. Okay.

Q. Did you put none of that into the tenant account?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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A. That's nothing to do with -- forty million. The

tenant contract doesn't make $40 million.

Q. No, I know that.

A. United is the grocery store also. Everything
is -- is combined as one.

Q. I get it, but what I'm saying is this: Let's say
that in -- in '96, I'l1l just use as an example, in 1996,
you —-- this says that $8 million came into the grocery store
more than was reported to the government. So someone —-- a

bunch of guys, apparently pretty smart guys, since this
worked, took $8 million in cash and went somewhere with it.
I have no idea where it went. TI'll betcha nobody could
trace today where it went.

Did some of it go into the tenant account?

A. How could it go into the tenant account?

Q. I don't know. You just put a bunch of money in
the tenants' account.

A. Why would I put -- why would I transfer money from
the tenant account to the operating account and then put it
back?

Q. Well, because if -- if it was paid from the tenant
account to the operating account, it would have been
laundered. It would have been real money coming in from
somewhere else.

A. That's not for me to say.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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0. Okay.

A. The only thing we collect -- the only thing the
tenant account got is from the tenants.

Q. Okay. So —-- so then I should be able to -- to
figure that out. To figure the fact that that's true, I
should be able to look at the tenant account ledger.
Somewhere there's, as your attorney pointed out, this was an
account at Virgin Islands Community Bank. Somewhere there's
a —-- a statement that shows all the money going into the
tenant account and all the money coming back out of the

tenant account, right?

A. Correct.

0. Okay. And have you supplied that document to your
counsel?

A. I don't think it's available. I don't know.

Q. It's —— it's not available for 199672

A. I'm not sure. That's going to be to the
accountant.

Q. Which accountant?

A. Whoever we have that's doing the accounting.

Q. Ben, you mean?

A. Well, Ben is the one who used to have -- get

everything. All the statements and everything.
Q. Okay.

A. So I don't know where those records are.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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Q. And where's Ben?

A. I don't know.

Q. Okay. And so -- so let's try it from a different
standpoint.

You don't know where Ben is and you think Ben
did this, but the reason you think Ben did this is because
it says Ben up there, right?
A. Right. I see his name here.
Q. But -- but you don't know?

A. No, I don't know, but this is --

Q. I could have typed this out yesterday?
A. But this is check numbers and this is --
Q. No, no, no.
A. -- reimbursements.
0. What I'm saying --
MS. PERRELL: Let him finish.
Q. (Mr. Hartmann) Okay.
A. This is payments. And you could see it's payments

to different companies, employees, even Larry Motto was our
property manager back then in '96, so his name is here. And
you could see every so often, he gets paid.

Q. Okay. I guess what I'm -- I'm not making my
question clear. This is what I'm saying is, yesterday I
could have sat down at my computer and I could have typed

out this page, right?
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A. Yeah.

Q. And I could have written File:/BEN/TENANT, you
know, and all that kind of stuff. And I could have printed
this out. And I could have put any set of numbers here and
you wouldn't have any idea whether those numbers were right

or not, would you?

A. Yeah, I -- I believe in this here.
0. But you don't know?
A. This is -- I mean, why should I fabricate

something? This is not today. This is in '96, this was
created.

Q. Well, but you don't know that. The only reason
you think it was created in '96 is because it says that?

A. Right.

Q. But you don't have any independent knowledge of
that, do you?

A. Of -- of this -- of this statement?

Q. Of any of this stuff on here?

A. Yes, I do. I -- I know about the checks going

over to Plaza.

Q. No, I understand, but not these particular checks?

A. And I know about -- I know about -- when I look at
Bob-A-Ru, whatever it is. I remember paying checks to that.
These —-- these people here. Texaco Caribbean, I remember

paying all these people. Ocean System, I remember all these
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things, yeah. This -- this comes back to mind.
Q. Okay.
A. So this is not something we just forked out.
Q. Let -- let me just put it a different way: Sure

you guys are completely honest, but I'm also sure that you
know that sometimes in lawsuits, people are not entirely
honest about stuff. And if I was not entirely honest, I
could have gone out yesterday and I could have typed up this
document, right? Or in 2016, when this was submitted?
There's nothing on this document, for instance, that shows
that it came from a bank. It's not part of a set of
records. You said all the financial records are gone.

MS. PERRELL: I would object, first of all,
to this line of questioning. The assumption that there is
somehow a fabricated document. I mean, that's just --
there's also Bates numbers on here that are pretty clear
that they were part of the FBI investigation.

A. Right, that's what I was going to and how you're

accusing me of fabricating this, or not being honest.

Q. (Mr. Hartmann) No, I'm not accusing.

A. You said it. You just said it a little while ago.
Q. No, I said --

A. And you was going to my point in saying this

record was held by the FBI.

Q. And -- and when the FBI collected it, collected
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all the records, did it account the tenant account records?

A. Of course. It collected everything.

Q. So —-- so we should be able to look in the FBI
records and find the bank statement that this reflects?

In other words, this says it comes from a
Community Bank Account 182-600135 tenant account.

A. Um-hum.

Q. And that this is a statement that Ben typed up,
but I'll tell you, I've been through the FBI records that
you got, there's no such thing. There's no Community Bank
records. How do you explain that?

A. Well, I guess you're not sharp enough to find it,

maybe.
Oh, vyou think they're in there?
A. They have to be in there.
Q. Okay, good --
A. This came from the FBI.
Q. -—- because -- 'cause this is your --
A. I didn't -- I didn't fabricate this.
0. Okay.
A. I didn't -- I didn't dishonestly do this.
Q. Okay.
A I got this from someplace, and it have a Bates

Stamp on it.

0. Okay. And the rest of the documents are there?
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A. Hmm?

Q. After '95?

A. After '95.

Q. Okay. When Hurricane Marilyn, it hit on
September 15th and 16th of '95.

A. Okay. September.

15th and 1leéth.

A. At least until that day, we were in trouble.
Q. And --

A. Excuse me. Let me finish.

Q. Okay.

A. And it take me two, three months to rebuild my

inventory. So I was out of work for two or three weeks.

And because I lost my -- my ceiling, my roof, I end up
having a total loss in -- right after the hurricane, I ge
total loss. And unless -- I didn't suffer until late, 1la

'96, or maybe early '97. So right there in '96, we're
absolutely broke and we're absolutely in need of money.
I don't mind no problem for me to put my rent money into
store, 'cause I know my capability of running the store.
Wally knows my capability of running the store. This is
enough to prove to you that in '96, we was deeply needing
money.

Remember, my partner, he have loss at one

fifty and get out, and get out with no money. Why? That

t a

te

And

the
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A. Yes, that's my handwriting.
(Deposition Exhibit No. 11 was
marked for identification.)
Q. Okay. So what I've handed you has been marked as

Exhibit 11. Can you identify it?

A. Yes.

Q. What is it?

A. It's a —— what I paid from United. What tenant
account for Plaza. I used to write it down on this ledger.

Q. Okay.

A. And I used to keep -- it was in a black book that

I used to keep in the safe.
Q. Okay. All right. And this particular sheet is --
the Bates Number on it is FY 14955.

Is that your handwriting?

A. No, no.
Q. No, no, no, not the 14955. That's just the number
of thing.

Is the handwritten portions of it, --
A. Oh, yes, yes.
Q. -—- this document?
A. Yes, it's my handwriting. I said that earlier.
Q. Okay. That's what I was asking.
Okay. So -- and why did you keep this list

or this ledger?
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A. Because Plaza owes this back to United.
Q. Okay.
A. I kept it. I used to -- I kept it in the safe

because it's things that I did, you know, I was told to do
certain things and I -- I wrote the check and took it to

wherever and I used to keep a ledger --

0. Okay.
A. -- of what I paid out of the tenant account.
Q. Okay. And at the top, can you read -- I know the

copy of it is not that great.

A. Yeah.

Q. Can you read basically what you understood it to
say?

A. What I understand, this is Plaza paid out for -- I

mean, United paid out for Plaza.

Q. Okay.

A. When I say, "United," I mean tenant account.

Q. Okay. And when you say Plaza, you mean the
partnership?

A. The supermarket.

Q. Okay. And at the time -- at the time when you

would say "Plaza, you meant the partnership, correct?
A. Yeah.
Q. Okay. All right. So let me go down these various

items.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

251

MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- DIRECT

The first one is on May 23rd, 1994. It says,
Steve -- well, let me ask you this: Can you read the first
item and just state what it is and if you recall what it was
for?

A. Yeah. I -- I looked -- I looked at this paper
earlier and a lot of stuff came back to me. Steve Nesky was
a guy that used to do the chlorination for us and I used to
pay him out of the tenant account for the tenant and the
supermarket. So I -- I used to break it out and charge, you
know, Plaza their portion out of it.

Q. Okay. So is the 400 the portion that should be

paid by the Plaza? And I'm going to say Plaza, the --

A, The stores. The store.
Q. The operation?
A. Right.

Q. Okay. All right. And can you please read the
next one?

A. That's Prudential. I think that was like
Prudential Securities. We used to have, or we had stocks
between the -- both families.

Q. Um-hum.

A. And I think if they had margin calls or something
that they needed to put money, I guess, I -- I used to do it
and take down the check.

0. Okay.
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A. Something pertaining to stocks or bonds or

whatever that they were involved in.

Q. Okay.

A. You know.

Q. And the amount was how much?

A. 30,000.

Q. Okay. And it's your understanding that normally

that might have come out of the operating account, but
instead, for whatever reason, you paid it out of the tenant

account, but it should have been for both families, correct?

A. Yeah, I don't know what the reason that I took it
out of the tenant account. This is in '94. I'm not sure if
I could not -- at the time, I couldn't sign on the operating
account for Plaza or not. I wasn't sure.

Q. Okay.

A. Or Plaza didn't have the money, you know, at that

time, so it was quicker to do it this way.

Q. Okay.

A. I wasn't -- not certain of the details why it came
out.

Q. Okay. All right. The next one is, if you could
read the third one down.

A. If I'm not mistaken, this is Core State Properties
in St. Thomas.

Q. Um-hum. What was the amount?

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
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A. $40,010. So looking at this with the $10, it
looks like I transferred money to Core State for something

to do with Plaza.

Q. Okay. And do you know -- this year was what year?
A. It's the same. If you go down -- how I usually
used to write stuff down. I would start -- I put the first

5-23-94 and I'll just keep going Jjust the day. I mean, the
month and day. And then if it changes to another year, I
would start. If you notice, it says 2-17-95, and then all
that is 2-17 -- I mean, year '95.

Q. Okay. So this was in 9-23, would be 19947

A. '94, correct.

0. Okay. And it's your belief that because it was
40,000, because there was a $10 on it, that it must have
been some kind of a transfer?

A. Yeah, and it says in St. Thomas. Something.
Something Core -- I don't know if it's Core State
Properties, but it says in St. Thomas. So it's something.
Had to be a transfer, something like that.

Q. All right. Can you read the fourth one down?

A. Refrigerator times two. I think that's -- it
should be 500. TIt's a thousand.

Q. Um-hum.

A. I'm not —— I'm not sure i1if both families agreed to

give it, our refrigerator to whoever. Or the families took
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one here and one there. But we had a tenant -- we have a
tenant that's Best Furniture, which is Ashley. And if the
families or somebody wanted to -- I think in this instant, I
don't know 1f it was -- went to the two families, one for
each here, one for each there. And it came out of our
tenant, so I deducted it from our tenant's rent. So Plaza
owes the tenant -- not the tenant, but the tenant account
back that money, 'cause I deducted it from the rents for --

it was Best Furniture at that time.

Q. So Best Furniture paid less in rent --
A. For that, yeah.
Q. -- for that? And then it should have been paid

for by the partnership, so the partnership would owe United
the money back?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. The next one, can you read that? Starts --
says bed, but I'll let you read it.

A. Oh, bed and bench. I'm not sure if that's what it

is, bed and bench, 350. Same thing. I don't know.

Q. And then the next one is? What is the next one?
A. I think that's property -- property for United.
Q. Um-hum. And then there's --

A. And it says something '90. 1993.

Um—-hum.

» ©

So I'm not sure. It's not clear.
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0. Okay.

A. So I'm not —— I can't pinpoint what this is for.
Q. And the 20,000, --

A. Yeah.

Q. -— do you recall what that is for?

A. No.

Q. All right. And then the next one, 5-57?

A. That's Peter's Farm investment.

Q. Um-hum.

A. Corp.

Q. Um-hum.

A. 60,000. Well, Peter's Farm is owned by the --

both families.

Q. Um—-hum.

A. So this came out of the tenant account to, I
guess, to Peter's Farm Investment Corp.

Q. Okay. And that's something that should have been
a joint payment, 1is that what you --

A. Right. It should come out of the store, but I
guess for some reason, I don't know who, told me to pay it
out of the tenant account.

Q. Okay. And the next one is 8-317?

A. It's another property. Oh, this is property tax
for United.

Q. Um—-hum.
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A. '94., 40,000. I'm not sure. 1It's not clear.
Q. All right. And then the last one says something
5, a date.

A. Oh, five something '98.

Q. What is that?

A. Bedroom.

Q. What does it mean-?

A. Bedroom set. If I'm not mistaken, that's a cousin
of ours. Both families.

Q. What is his name?

A. Allaah.

Q. Um—-hum.

A. He's my -- he's my first cousin and their first
cousin. I guess he got married that year.

Q. Um-hum.

A. And I did ask somebody yesterday if he did, and
they said yes. So that was a gift from the -- both families
to him.

Q. Like a wedding gift?

A. Right.

Q. Okay.

A. And that came out of the same issue like the
refrigerator.

Q. Um—-hum.

A. Best Furniture. We got it from Best Furniture for
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him, and I deducted it from the rent for Best Furniture.

Q. Okay. So it would have been a gift from both
families?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. Other than this ledger with these
however many, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, other than these 9.

A. Um-hum.

Q. And not talking about the transfer issues that we
dealt with earlier, these are the only amounts that you
recall came out of the tenant account that somehow should
have been reimbursed by the partnership, or you're
contending that, correct?

A. Correct, this -- yes. And I know there's more.

Q. Okay.

A. Because I had a black book, and it's the same page
just like this. And I know there's more, but it's just to
put my hands on it.

Q. This is the only one that you have?

A. It's the only one I have, yes.

Q. Okay. All right. All right. Do you recall
whether you had conversations with Wally or any -- well, let
me just ask you, any of the Hameds related to this, or do
you recall?

A. I —- I took his instructions from Wally. In -- in

'94, I, you know, my dad wasn't there. Most of my
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instructions were from Wally.
MS. PERRELL: Okay. All right. Okay. I
have no further questions on this.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. HARTMANN:
Q. Okay. So I have a couple.

First of all, two of these things say that
they're property tax for the United, right? The one on
2-17-95 and the one on 8-30-96. One says it's the property
tax for United for 1993, and I think the other one says it's

the property tax for United for 1996, right?

A. No.

Q. No?

A. '96.

Q. 20,000 --

A. The 20,000 -- 1f I'm not mistaken, it seems like

it says property tax for United. And the --
Q. The one, two down from that.
A. And the other one --
Q. Says property tax for United 1990 -- one says '93,

one says '96.

A. '94,
Q. Or '94.
A. '94,

Q. Okay. I'm sorry, I'm old.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF -- CROSS
Okay. So United was paying its property tax
for -- $60,000 of your claim is United paying its own

property tax? I'm just trying to understand what the claims

are.

top.

0

w

P ©

10

United

A.
Q.
A.

Q.

second

think?

A.

it was

know.

Q.

Excuse me?
This says it was property tax for United, right?

United paid out for Plaza. That's what it says on

No, I understand.

Oh, here, property tax for United.

Property tax for United?

Yes, vyes.

Okay. So what did United pay property tax on?

In other words, what -- what land was -- did

own that it was paying property tax for?

The Sion Farm location.

The Sion Farm. The shopping plaza?

Yeah.

Okay. And the -- the Prudential Bache one, the

one down there, you said that was an investment, you

I know we had investment -- at that time, I think
called -- I think it was Merrill Lynch, but I don't
I don't know.

Okay.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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FATHI YUSUF - DIRECT

0. Okay.

w

-- my son, anything else.

Q. All right.

A. And he was taking my instruction to listen to
Wally and their cousins, and we believe in Wally and father
and mother. And unfortunately, everybody do the best he can
to hurt us.

Q. Okay. But Mr. Yusuf, let me ask you this: So
this is for the United -- I'm asking, do you know whether
this property taxes is for the United property taxes at Sion
Farm?

A. No. It could be the improvements of the
supermarket.

0. Okay. And why is that amount an amount that
should be paid by the partnership?

A. Well, what you mean? If they have no money, we
explain already.

Q. No, but --

A. Supermarket was dry with cash.

Q. Was the supermarket operations supposed to be
paying that, those amounts?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So that was supposed to be paid --

A. But if they don't have no money, he could tell

you —-- my son, Go ahead and pay it.

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161
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of the deposition.

The time is 5:009.

(Whereupon the depositions adjourned

at 5:09 p.m.)

Susan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
(340) 773-8161




273

C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E

I, SUSAN C. NISSMAN, a Registered Merit Reporter
and Notary Public for the U.S. Virgin Islands,
Christiansted, St. Croix, do hereby certify that the above
and named witnesses, FATHI YUSUF, MAHER "MIKE" YUSUF, WALEED
"WALLY" HAMED, NEJEH YUSUF, MAFEED "MAFI" HAMED, and JOHN
GAFFNEY, were first duly sworn to testify the truth; that
said witnesses did thereupon testify as is set forth; that
the answers of said witnesses to the oral interrogatories
propounded by counsel were taken by me in stenotype and
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my personal
direction and supervision.

I further certify that the facts stated in the caption
hereto are true; and that all of the proceedings in the
course of the hearing of said deposition are correctly and
accurately set forth herein.

I further certify that I am not counsel, attorney or
relative of either party, nor financially or otherwise
interested in the event of this suit.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as such

Registered Merit Reporter on this the 22nd day of February,

2020, at Christiansted, St. iéERI.hﬂEDV.i'.ﬁ%E)CWndS.

My Commission Expires: usan C. Nissman, RPR-RMR
June 28, 2023 NP 234-19
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ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF
PETER'S FARM INVESTMENT CORPORATION

We, the undersigned, all being of lawful age, for the purpose of forming a corporation
under and by, virtue of Title XIII of the Virgin Islands Code do hereby make, sign and
acknowledge the following as its Articles of Incorporation.

FIRST: The name of the corporation (the "Corporation") is
FPeter s Farm Investment Corporation
SECOND:  The purposes for which the Corporation is formed are:

(a) to acquire, develop, hold for investment, lease, sell and otherwise deal with
property, both real and personal

(b) To carry on the business described above and any other related or unrelated
business and activity in the Territory of the Virgin Islands, in any state, territory, district,
or dependency of the United States, or in any foreign country.

(©) In general to do all, and everything necessary, proper and incidental to and
for the accomplishment and attainment for the purposes enumerated, and to do any or all
things herein set forth to the same extent as natural persons might do, either alone or in
conjunction with any other persons, firms, associations, trust estate, agencies or
corporations.

(d) To do anything permitted in Sections 31 and 32 of the Title XIII of the Virgin
Islands Code, as amended from time to time. -

The foregoing clauses shall be construed as general objects, purposes and powers,
and shall not be held to limit or restrict in any manner the powers of the corporation

permitted by law.

THIRD: The total authorized capital stock of the Corporation is one thousand
(1,000) shares without par value.

FOURTH: The minimum amount of capital with which the Corporation shall
commence business is One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00).

FIFTH: The principal office of the Corporation in the Virgin Islands is 5 King
Street Christiansted, St. Croix, VI 00820. The name and post office address of the resident
agent of the Corporation in this Territory is Fathi Yusuf, PO Box 763, Christiansted, St.
Croix, VI 00821, 92C Princess Hill, Christiansted, St. Croix, V.I. 00820.

SIXTH: The existence of the Corporation shall be perpetual.

344-FY-1029



SEVENTH: The number of directors of the Corporation shall be as set forth in the
By-Laws of the Corporation but will never be less than three.

EIGHTH: No Stockholder of the Corporation shall have any preferential or
preemptive right to acquire additional shares of stock of the Corporation except to the
extent that, and on such terms as, the Board of Directors from time to time may determine.

NINTH: To the full extent permitted under the Virgin Islands Code, as in effect
on the date hereof, or as hereafter from time to time amended, no director or officer shall be
liable to the Corporation or to its stockholders for money damages for any breach of any
duty owed by such director or officer to the Corporation or any of its stockholders. Neither
the amendment or repeal of this Article NINTH, nor the adoption of any provision of these
Articles of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article NINTH, shall eliminate or reduce
the protection afforded by this Article NINTH to a director or officer or former director or
officer of the Corporation with respect to any matter which occurred, or any cause of action,
suit or claim which but for this Article NINTH would have accrued or arisen, prior to such
amendment, repeal or adoption.

TENTH: The names and addresses of the incorporators are as follows:

Yusef I. Jaber
122E The Estate Whim
Frederiksted, St. Croix, USVI

Fathi Yusuf
# 72C OCRUNCESS WL ?;/,
St. Tm?f, USVI

Mohamad Hamed
#_OH . (NN CANLNA o™

St. Fhemas, USVI .
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, We have hereunto set our hands and seals this 4

of MAQLEr 1995,

“Fathi Yusuf

o he =

Mohamad Hamed

day

344-FY-1030



TERRITORY OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST.CROIX

N ey
On this F‘Q%’X‘Ctafy _{’f 1995, before me personally appeared Yusef I. Jaber, Fathi
Yusuf, and Mohamad Hamed who acknowledged the foregoing Articles of Incorporation to

be their act and deed.
% ( dfq ‘30“ -..,~’
11 \“ \\ .‘ %

Notary Public i n.-* >; '="o*'°. ﬁ,‘;\
flfo:T 7 2%
.. . %F FENE S - =3
My Commission Expires: Wisw = T TE
3 V% RN
Ve Cp
‘ e v U !
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EXHIBIT 3



MINUTES OF
THE ORGANIZATION MEETING

OF
PETER'S FARM INVESTMENT CORPORATION

The organization meeting of incorporators of Peter's Farm Investment Corporation
was held at Christiansted, St. Croix on Febraary8, 1995, at__ L. 0¢ £ o m.
MALZWN 4()‘ !

The following were present

Yusef I. Jaber
Fathi Yusuf
Mahamad Hamed

being all the incorporators of the corporation. YusefI. Jaber was appointed
chairman and Fathi Yusuf was appointed secretary of the meeting.

The secretary then presented and read to the meeting the waiver of notice of the
meeting, subscribed by all the persons named in the certificate of incorporation, and it was
ordered that it be appended to the minutes of the meeting.

The secretary then presented and read to the meeting a copy of the certificate of
incorporation and reported that on F—eb%%%}k 1995 the original thereof was filed in the
office of Corporations of the Territory of the Virgin Islands. The copy of the certificate of
incorporation was ordered appended to the minutes of the meeting.

The chairman then stated that nominations were in order for election of directors of
the corporation to hold office until the first annual meeting of stockholders and until their
successors shall be elected and shall qualify.

The following persons were nominated:

Yusef I. Jaber
Fathi Yusuf
Mohamad Hamed

No further nominations being made. Nominations were closed and a vote was
taken.

After the vote had been counted, the chairman declared that the foregoing named
nominees were elected directors of the corporation.

The chairman then stated that the newly elected directors would assume their
responsibilities immediately and that this meeting would be considered as the first meeting

344-FY-1046



MINUTES OF THE ORGANIZATION MEETING
PETER'S FARM INVESTMENT CORPORATION
PAGE 2

of directors to organize the corporation and to transact such business as should properly
come before the meeting.

The secretary then presented a proposed form of by-laws. The proposed by-laws
were read to the meeting, considered and upon motion duly made, seconded and carried,
were adopted as and for the by-laws of the corporation and ordered appended to the
minutes of the meeting.

The chairman of the meeting then called for the election of officers of the
corporation. The following persons were nominated to the office preceding their name:

President Mahamad Hamed
Vice President ~ YusefI. Jaber
Secretary Fathi Yusuf
Treasurer Fathi Yusuf

No further nominations being made the nominations were closed and the directors
proceeded to vote on the nominees. The chairman announced that the foregoing nominees
were elected to the offices set before their respective names.

The secretary submitted to the meeting a seal proposed for use as the corporate seal,
a specimen stock certificate proposed for use as the corporate certificate for stock, the
corporate record book, and the stock transfer ledger. Upon motion duly made, seconded

and carried, it was : ‘.a"m 9 "
/ -".““-.‘\\-"; 5., o
RESOLVED, that the seal now presented A AN B
at this meeting, an impression of which is PEOET I Bin
directed to be made in the minutes of this .r:g_ i e A ie
meeting, be and the same hereby is adopted ‘ f,"(;‘-.__ Jomn oo "‘._,-"}:ms,
as the seal of the corporation, and further ﬁ\"o,,. Yy tm “@“ y

hereby is adopted as the form of certificate of stock to be issued to represent shares in the
corporation, and further

RESOLVED, that the corporate record book, including the stock transfer ledger, be
and hereby is adopted as the record book and stock transfer ledger of the corporation.

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, it was
RESOLVED, that the treasurer of the corporation be and hereby is authorized to
pay all charges and expenses incident to or arising out of the organization of the

corporation and to reimburse any person who has made any disbursement therefor.

Upon motion, duly made, seconded and carried, it was

344-FY-1047



MINUTES OF THE ORGANIZATION MEETING
PETER'S FARM INVESTMENT CORPORATION
PAGE 3

RESOLVED, that an office of the corporation be established and maintained in 5
King Street Christiansted, St. Croix,

VI 00820 and that meetings of the board of directors from time to time may be held
either at the principal office or at such other place as the board of directors shall from time
to time order.

Upon motion duly made, seconded and carried, it was

RESOLVED, that the corporation issue to the persons listed below shares of its
stock, without par value, for and in consideration of the payment to the corporation of the
consideration set forth below, which sum was determined to be fair and reasonable by the
Board of Directors. -

Name Number of Shares Price Paid
Yusef I. Jaber 333 1/3 $333.33
Fathi Yusuf 333 1/3 $333.33
Mahamad Hamed 333 1/3 $333.33

Upon motion, duly made, seconded and carried it was

RESOLVED, that the corporation proceed to carry on the business for which it was
incorporated, and further

RESOLVED, that the signing of these minutes shall constitute full ratification
thereof and waiver of notice of the meeting by the signatories.

There being no further business before the meeting, on motion duly made, seconded
and carried, the meeting was adjourned.

Dated: March f , 1995

Mohamad’Hame'd, President

ATTEST

A

Fathi Yusef, Secretary

A true copy of each of the following papers referred to in the foregoing minutes is
appended hereto:

Waiver of notice of the meeting

Certificate of incorporation
By-Laws
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The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written
out in full according to applicable laws or regulations. Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the list.

TEN COM  — as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT — ... Custodian................ (Minor)
TEN ENT  —as tenants by the entireties under Uniform Gifts to Minors Aet.__.____________..__.__ (State)
JT TEN — as joint tenants with right of survivorship

and not as tenants n common PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ Attorney to transfer the said
shares on the books of the within-named Corporation with full power of substitution in the premises.

28,8 2
. . . F ASSIGNEE =3
For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto p—=""rHmmemss 2233
S .20
..Fathi Yusuf and Mohamad Hamed ... ... gasf
PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS OF ASSIGNEE %g
@S BEN COM o e i
.................................. 333.33 (Or ALL) e Shares 53
. . . - . . N'<
represented by the within Certificate, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appOInES.......occoeeeeeeeeeeeeune 23
=43
iz
£
BF
s
Se

9081 8} UOdN uaJlUM SE JWEY Byl YHM PUOdsalIcd

N 1UsWwubIsSsSe Siul 01 3JNieubis AUl

-ede.
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EXHIBIT 4A



THIS STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT is made March 4 , 1995, by and among
Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation, a Virgin Islands corporation (the "Corporation"), and
Fathi Yusuf, Mohamad Hamed and Yusef I. Jaber, residents of the Territory of the United,
States Virgin Islands (hereinafter referred to individually by their respective last names or as|
a "Stockholder" and collectively as the "Stockholders").

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants
contained herein, it is mutually agreed by and among the parties to this Agreement, on behalf
of themselves, their heirs, successors and assigns, as follows:

1 All of the issued and outstanding shares of the only class of capital stock authorized
by the Corporation, namely common stock, are owned as follows:

11

12

13

1.4

In exchange for their respective shares of stock in the Corporation, the stockholders
have made certain investments in the corporation which are difficult to quantify. The
parties to this agreement agree that the following investments are adequate
consideration for their respective shares of stock:

STOCKHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT

ARTICLE 1. EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

Stockholder Shares Percentage
Fathi Yusuf 333 1/3 3313%
Mohamad Hamed 333 1/3 33 1/3%
Yusef I. Jaber 333 1/3 33 1/3%

The parties desire to provide for continuity and harmony in the management
of the affairs of the Corporation and to that end to provide certain restrictions
on the transferability of the shares of the common stock of the Corporation.

The parties hereto desire to formalize certain agreementsregarding the funding
of the Corporation’s activities.

The parties desire to secure certain shareholder loans made to the Corporation
and to that end also provide certain restrictions on the transferability of the
shares of the common stock of the Corporation and the business activities of
the corporation.

The parties desire to memorialize their general obligations to the Corporation,
to wit, Yusuf and Hamed will loan acquisition funding and certain other
specific funds to the Corporation and Jaber will provide the expertise tq
acquire, market and sell the property.

ARTICLE 2. STOCKHOLDER INVESTMENTS

344-FY-1057



Stockholder’s Agreement
Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation

Page -2-

2.1

22

2.3

24

25

2.6

2.7

Yusuf and Jaber assign to the Corporation a contract dated February 8, 1995
between Sidney Lee and the Sidney Lee Revocable Trust as sellers and Yusuf
and Jaber as buyers for the purchase of certain real estate ("the Properties")
to the Corporation;

Yusuf and Hamed agree to provide an interest-free loan to the Corporation of
approximately $2.5 million for the purchase of the Properties that are the
subject of the contract identified in paragraph 2.1 and to pay the closing costs
associated with the purchase and the costs associated with forming the
Corporation. Funds shall be advanced by Yusuf and Hamed on or before the
dates on which the Corporation is required to pay the same as Buyer under the
terms of the Purchase Contract and the Note and Mortgages attached thereto
as exhibits. Said loan shall be secured by a first priority mortgage
(subordinated only to the superior mortgage of Sidney Lee and the Sidney Lee
Revocable Trust) on the properties in favor of Yusuf and Hamad.

Yusuf and Hamed agree to provide an additional interest-free loan of up to
$100,000 to pay costs for engineering, surveying, development and sale of the
Properties.  Said loan shall be secured by the first priority mortgage
(subordinated only to the superior mortgage of Sidney Lee and the Sidney Lee
Revocable Trust) on the Properties in favor of Yusuf and Hamed.

Yusuf and Hamed shall have the right to cause the Corporation to execute a
mortgage of the Purchased Property securing any third-party financing that they
may obtain in order to fund the Loan referred to in 11 2.2 and 2.3; provided
that the repayment terms of such third-party financing shall be identical to the
repayment terms provided herein for the repayment of the Loan to Yusuf and
Hamed.

Jaber agrees that neither he nor his real estate brokerage shall earn a
commission from the sale of the Properties from Sidney Lee and/or the Sidney
Lee Revocable Trust as sellers and Yusuf and Jaber (or their assigns) as
buyers.

Jaber agrees that neither he nor his real estate brokerage shall earn a
commission from the sale of the Properties by the Corporation to any person
or entity.

Jaber agrees that he will use his expertise and good faith efforts to market and
sell the Properties. Such contribution shall not preclude Jaber from pursuing
other business endeavors or his present real estate brokerage business.

344-FY-1058



Stockholder’s Agreement
Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation
Page -17-

interpretation. The parties further agree that the contract shall be interpreted to give
effect to their intent as specified in Articles 1, 2, and 3 herein. In the event of any
inconsistency between the provisions of Articles 1, 2 and 3 (including all
subparagraphs) of this agreement and any other provision of this agreement, then the|
provisions of Articles 1, 2 and 3 shall govern this agreement notwithstanding any other

provision of this agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and sealed this
Agreement as of the day and year first herein above written.

ATTEST:

PRESSEREY .
P> cogi
, Z e
G

Fathi Yusuf, Seéretary

WITNESS:

Lo~

WITNESS:

S

WITNESS:

Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation

By: - ;z§4,> ;—#»—) (SEAL)

Mohamad Hamed, President

Fathi Yusuf, Individual

Mohamad Hamed, Individual

344-FY-1073




Stockholder’s Agreement
Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation
Page -18-

WITNESS:

|

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me
this 47" day of /M ALk, 1995.

344-FY-1074
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U.S. v. Fathi Yusuf, et al. Discovery Items and Description

Image Filename Date Description
017-0001 File Folder
017-0002 2/28/1995 Accounting Records
017-0005 2/28/1995 Accounting Records
017-0008 2/28/1995 Accounting Records
017-0023 2/28/1995 Accounting Records
017-0044 12/13/1994 Accounting Records
017-0046 12/13/1994 Accounting Records
017-0048 12/13/1994 Accounting Records
017-0050 12/13/1994 Accounting Records
017-0052 12/13/1994 Accounting Records
017-0054 12/13/1994 Accounting Records
017-0056 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0061 12/27/1994 Accounting Records
017-0072 12/13/1994 Bank Records
017-0075 12/28/1994 Accounting Records
017-0080 12/28/1994 Accounting Records
017-0095 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0111 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0115 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0117 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0119 11/15/1994 Bank Records
017-0123 12/1/1994 Bank Records
017-0125 7/22/1994 Bank Records
017-0128 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0131 File Folder
017-0132 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0135 2/7/1995 Accounting Records
017-0138 2/7/1995 Accounting Records

A\_[3digit - 4 digit FBI Format
Thursday, September 25, 2003 Page 1 of 881
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his
authorized agent, WALEED HAMED,

Plaintiffs,
v. CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N S

NOTICE OF SERVICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL RULE 26 DISCLOSURES

COMES NOW, FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, by and through
undersigned counsel, hereby gives notice that the Defendants propounded Supplemental Rule 26
disclosures today to counsel of record for the Plaintiff. Specifically, the Plaintiff was provided with
the following:

Disk 1 — Bates # 0001-18118;

Disk 2 — Bates # 18119-34599;

Disk 3 — Bates # 34600-52808;

Disk 4 — Bates # 52809-70153;

Disk 5 — Bates # 70154-87952;

Disk 6 — Bates # 87953-104299;

Disk 7 — Bates # 104300-109054;

Disk 8 — Bates # 109055-111638.

//

//

//

FUERST ITTLEMAN DAVID & JOSEPH, PL
1001 BRICKELL BAY DRIVE, 32" FLOOR, MiaM), FL 33131 - T: 305.350.5690 » F: 305.371.8989 « WWW.FUERSTLAW.COM




Respectfully submitted, August 26, 2013

e

jééph A. DliRuzzo, III

USVI Bar # 1114

FUERST ITTLEMAN DAVID & JOSEPH, PL
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, 32™ Floor
Miami, Florida 33131

305.350.5690 (O)

305.371.8989 (F)
idituzzo@fuerstlaw.com

Co-counsel for Defendants Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was sent via FedEx
on August 26, 2013. T hereby certify a true and accurate copy of the foregoing document was served
via FedEx to the following:

Joe! H. Holt, Esq., 2132 Company St., St. Croix, VI 00820, holtvi@aol.com

Carl ]. Hartmann III, Esg., 5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6, Christiansted, VI 00820,
carl@carlhartmann.com

Respectfully submitted,

~Aoseph A. ?k{zzo, III
USVI Bar # 1114
FUERST ITTLEMAN DAVID & JOSEPH, PL
1001 Brickell Bay Drive, 32™ Floor
Miami, Flonida 33131
305.350.5690 (O)
305.371.8989 (F)

idiruzzo@fuerstlaw.com

FUERST ITTLEMAN DAVID AND JOSEPH, PL
1001 BRICKELL BAY DRIVE, 32"° FLOOR, MiaMI, FL 33131 « T: 305.350.5690 « F: 305.371.8989 + WWW.FUERSTLAW.COM
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,

V.

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendants/Counterclaimants,
v.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Additional Counterclaim Defendants.

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
V.

UNITED CORPORATION,

Defendant.

WALEED HAMED, as Executor of the
Estate of MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
v.
FATHI YUSUF,
Defendant.
FATHI YUSUF and
UNITED CORPORATION,
Plaintiffs,

V.

THE ESTATE OF MOHAMMAD HAMED,
Waleed Hamed as Executor of the Estate of
Mohammad Hamed, and

THE MOHAMMAD A. HAMED LIVING
TRUST,

Defendants.

L N T N L T T T e I i i i i i i i g

CIVIL NO. §X-12-CV-370
ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF, DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT, AND

PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION,
WIND UP, AND ACCOUNTING

Consolidated With

CIVIL NO. 5X-14-CV-287

ACTION FOR DAMAGES AND
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

CIVIL NO. §X-14-CV-278

ACTION FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION

CIVIL NO. ST-17-CV-384

ACTION TO SET ASIDE
FRAUDULENT TRANSFERS



Hamed v. Yusuf, et al.
Civil No. §X-12-CV-370
Page 2

DECLARATION OF FATHI YUSUF
I, Fathi Yusuf, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, and V.LR. Civ. P. 84, declare under the

penalties of perjury, that the following is true and correct:

l. I have reviewed Exhibits 9, 9A, 10, 11 and 13 to United’s motion for summary
judgment on claims Y-7 and Y-9. These exhibits contain records showing transfers from
United’s tenant accounts to Plaza Extra (partnership) accounts or to others on its behalf in
various years in the 1990’s.

2. Ben Irvin was employed by the partnership as its principal accountant or
comptroller for a number of years in the 1990’s until, to the best of my recollection, sometime in
the early 2000’s. I do not recall the exact dates of his employment, but my recollection and
belief is that he prepared most or all of the accounting records that make up Exhibits 9, 9A, 10,
11 and 13, or that he directed their preparation by others in the accounting department which he
supervised.

3. United’s tenant account was at Virgin Islands Community Bank. That was the
account at which it deposited rent payments from its many tenants at the United Shopping
Center. The United Shopping Centers has 36 bays. Exhibits 9A and 10 contain a number of
Community Bank monthly bank statements for 1996, 1997 and 1998, which show deposits to
and checks written from United’s tenant account for those months.

4, As managing partner of the partnership and as the person in charge of United’s
landlord/tenant business, I had sole authority to determine when advances or payments made
from United’s tenant account to or on behalf of Plaza Extra (the partnership) would be reconciled
or repaid. Idid not direct the repayment of these advances or payments by the partnership and to
the best of my knowledge and belief they were not repaid. The purpose of the payments or

advances made to or on behalf of the partnership from the tenant account was to provide cash



Hamed v. Yusuf, et al.
Civil No. §X-12-CV-370
Page 3

and working capital for the partnership business. Even if I had wanted to repay those amounts,
once the criminal case was brought, doing so was not viable. There was federal oversight of
checks written from accounts in United’s name after the criminal case was brought. In addition,
the defense lawyers for me and the other defendants in the criminal advised us not to do or say
nothing that would suggest the existence of a partnership between me and Mohammad Hamed,

because that would hurt our defense and cause Mohammad Hamed to be added to the case.

W
Dated: April 15, 2020 . !

Fathi Yusuf
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Case: 1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB Document #: 1417 Filed: 02/09/15 Page 1 of 4

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX
) E-‘lLBD'IHISﬂ_DAY OAQL zoﬁ
. vE, ESQ.
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and ) OLENDAL.LAKE, ESQ
GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
vs. ) CRIMINAL NO. 2005-00015F/B
)
UNITED CORPORATION )
d/b/a Plaza Extra )
)
Defendants. )
)
)

AMENDED ORDER!
THIS MATTER having come before this Court pursuant to the sentencing of the United
Corporation, d/b/a Plaza Extra, it is hereby
ORDERED, that all Temporary Restraining Preliminary Injunctions, Lis Pendens and
other restraints of any kind on Mohammad Hamed, any of the Defendants? or their associated
entities,? or any of their property -- that may have been created during the pendency of this action,
are hereby released -- and only Defendant United Corporation will be subject to the accompanying

Sentencing Order from this point on. It is further,

! This Order amends the order issued on December 18, 2014, (Doc. # 1408) to correct a
typographical error and is identical to the December 18" order in all other respects.

2 Including but not limited to Fathi Yusuf, Waleed Hamed, Waheed Hamed, Maher Yusuf, Isam
Yousuf, Nejeh Yusuf, and United Corporation d/b/a Plaza Extra Supermarkets.

3 The associated companies so released are Plessen Enterprises, Inc., Sixteen Plus Corporation,
Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation, Y & H Investments, Inc., East West Enterprises, Inc. and
Y &S Corporation, Inc.
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ORDERED that the Post-Indictment Restraining Order issued pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982
and 21 U.S.C. § 853, dated Sept. 15, 2003, and the Post-Indictment Temporary Restraining Order
issued pursuant to 14 V.I.C. § 606, dated Sept. 18, 2003, are hereby VACATED. It is further,

ORDERED that any accounts at Banco Popular, Bank of Novia Scotia, and Merrill Lynch
that was/were subject to any previously entered restraining order(s) (including but not limited to
the above listed post-indictment restraining orders), are no longer frozen/encumbered/restrained,
etc. The instant Order expressly applies to (without limitation) the following bank accounts:

Account # 191-063789 at Banco Popular;
Account # 191-013307 at Banco Popular;
Account # 192-026143 at Banco Popular;
Account # 65811 at Bank of Nova Scotia,
Account # 55312010 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
Account # 60086413 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
Account # 60092918 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
Account # 55356719 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
Account # 140-07759 at Merrill Lynch; and
j.  Account # 140-21722 at Merrill Lynch.
This Order also applies to any bank account not expressly listed above that was subject to any

IS
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previously entered order from this Court. It is further,

ORDERED that the Recorder of Deeds shall remove all notices of /is pendens or other
encumbrances of record filed in connection with this case against all properties owned in whole or
in part by any of the Defendants, including, but not limited to:

Real property located at 14 and 28-29 Estate Plessen, St. Croix, Parcel 4-06200-0408-00,

including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,

which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained
directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 371 and 1341.
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o Real property located at 3AA-1 and 4AA St. Joseph and Rosendahl, St. Thomas, Parcels 1-
05501-0148-00 and 1-05501-0107-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements,
fixtures, attachments, and easements, which is property constituting and derived from
proceeds which the defendants obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the
commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 3 71 and 1341,

e Real property located at 4-15, No.5 and 6 Tabor and Harmony, St. Thomas, Parcels 1-
03104-234-00 and 1-031 04-265-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements,
fixtures, attachments, and easements, which is property constituting and derived from
proceeds which the defendants obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the
commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1341.

o Real property located at Remainder Spring Garden, St. Croix, Parcel 4-01900-0101-00,
including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained
directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1956(a)(1 )}(B)(i) and (h).

o Real property located at Parcel 2, Estate Longpoint and Cotton Garden, St. Croix, Parcel
2-03500-0414-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments,
and easements, which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the
defendants obtained directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and (h).

e Real property located at Estate Peter's Farm, St. Croix, Parcel 2-04900-0404-00, including
all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements, which is
property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and (h).

o Real property located at Estate Perseverance, St. Thomas, Parcel 1-02503-0101-00,
including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained
directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and (h).

o Real property located at 6 and 9 Estate Thomas, St. Thomas, Parcel 05404-1505-00,
including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained
directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and (h).
e Parcel No. 2 Remainder, Estate Charlotte Amalie, No. 3 French Quarter

Real property known as Diamond Keturah Land on St. Croix, consisting of:
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Estate Cane Garden, Parcel Nos. 8, 9, I 0, Remainder No. 46A, Remainder Matriculate No,
32B, Road Plots 11 and 12;

o Estate Retreat Parcell!, Peter's Matriculate No. 37B of Company Quarter and Peter's
Matriculate No. 37A and 37BA of Company Quarter, No. 54 of Queen's Quarter;

Estate Granard Remainder Matriculate 32A, Parcel No. 40, Road Plot 41;

¢ Estate Diamond, Remainder Matriculate 31, Parcel Nos. I, 2, 3, 4, Road Plot No. 6;
including all appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements; all of
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained
directly and indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), (a)(2)(B)(i) and (h).

e Real property located at 92C and D, La Grande Princess, St. Croix, Parcel 2-02611-0215-
00, including all appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements;

o Real property located at 7 Southgate, St. Croix, Parcel 2-03000-0412-00, including all of
its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, appurtenances, and easements;

e Real property located at 92B La Grande Princess, St. Croix, Parcel 2-02611-0214-00,
including all appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements; and

e Real property located at Green Cay Plantation Subdivision, Frenchman's Bay, St. Thomas,
Parcel 07404-0280-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures,
attachments, and easements.

e Real property located at 4C, D and H. Sion Farm., St. Croix, Parcel 2-04700-0439-00,
including all of its appurtenances; improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements;

o Real property located at 14 and 28-29 Estate Plessen, St. Croix, Parcel 4-06200-0408-00,
including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements.

And any other properties that may have had liens placed upon them pursuant to above

captioned case

IT IS SO ORDERED.
CERTIF  ATRUE COPY THIS
M DAY 20
nd GL L.LAK
Senior U.S. District Court Judge K OF
BY
D Y

Dated
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Froim: Nizar DeWood <dewoodlaw@gmail.com>

To: Wally Hamed <wallyhsix@yahoo.com> - .
Sent: Friday, February 10, 2012 10:58 AM :
Subject: Powers of Attomey - Dissolution of Partnership -

Hello Wally,

1 wish to confirm our discuss_ions in the following two matters: 1) Power of Attorneys to verify and audit financial
information currently in dispute, 2) Partnership Dissolution.

_ L “Power of Attorney
- As agreed between you and Mr. Yusuf, the Power of Attorney will be required for each of you, your father, brothers, wife,
and adult children. This power of attorney will be limited to obtaining any and all information regarding bank and
investment accounts that may bave been opened, closed, used for wire transfers, and opened on behalf of other third parties,
The banks that will be covered will include the Virgin Islands, St, Maarten, New York, and the Middle East,

Any and all information obtained will be held in confidence by my office, and will be used for the sole purpose of financial

verification. - . ~
IL  Dissolution of Partnership (Yusuf & Hamed)

I will be sending a formal notice of partnership dissolution notice, with a list of to-dos that wili be required te complete an

orderly dissolution. See attached email, I understand that you and Mr. Yusuf are still discussing various terms and aspects of
the dissolution. I will await the final decision made,

Your mailing address to address al] originals will be;

Mohammad Hamed
- Walid Hamed
PO 763
Christiansted, VI 00821

Thank you,

Nizar A. DeWood, Esq.

-The DeWood Law Firm ‘

3070 Kronprindsens Gade, Suite 208
St. Thomas, V.1. 00802

T. (340) 7740405
F. (888) 398-8428
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THE DEWOOD LAW FIRM

3070 Kronprindsens Gade, Suite 208
St. Thomas, V.1. 00802
T. (340) 774-0405
F.(888) 398-8428

info@dewood-law.com
Mohammad Hamed VIA EMAIL ONLY
c¢/o Walid Hamed
PO Box 763
Christiansted, V.1, 00821
Re: Dissolution of Partnership
Yusuf & Hamed

Dear Mr. Hamed,

This letter is to confirm the parties’ desire to dissolve the above referenced partnership,
Partnership dissolution will involve appropriate planning to properly account for each of the
partner’s interest in the partnership, and a well-executed agreement memorializing the
understanding of the parties. "

As it stands, the partnership has three major assets: Plaza Extra —~ West (Grove Place,
including the real property), Plaza Extra — East (Sion Farm) and Plaza Extra (Tutu Park, St,
Thomas). I have been advised that there are ongoing discussions between you, as your father’s
fully authorized agent, and Mr. Yusuf regarding which of the stores each partner will retain upon
dissolution. Accordingly, I will await the final decision that you and Mr. Yusuf may reach.

Additionally, as Mr. Yusuf has indicated, he remains resolute about the rental terms of
the Plaza Extra— East, Unless the parties arrive at a different understanding, I will assume that
Mr. Yusuf will not agree to continue the lease beyond June 30%, 2012 on that property.

Tlook forward to heating from you. Thank you,

Sincerely,

A J6d, Esq. .

cc: Fathi Yusuf
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Funds Transferred from United's Tenant Account to Plaza Extra - Owed to United

Year Month Amount
1996 Jan 15,900
1996 Jan 30,300
1996 Mar 3,000
1996 Apr 6,000
1996 Apr 5,000
1996 Apr 8,000
1996 May 4,000
1996 May 13,000
1996 May 1,500
1996 May 3,500
1996 May 5,500
1996 June 5,000
1996 June 3,500
1996 June 10,000
1996 June 6,000
1996 June 2,000
1996 July 1,000
1996 July 4,182
1996 July 17,000
1996 Aug. 10,000
1996 Aug 3,500
1996 Aug 4,300
1996 Aug 12,000
1996 Sept 950
1996 Oct 12,000
1996 Dec 1,000

188,132
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Virgin Islands Community Bank AJE #2 J
Account #182-600136
Tenant Account

January 1996
Chack # Gi/L Acct. # Disbursements

565 5300 586.00* Alfred Ferrol
0* Bob-A-Ru

667 1201 15,900.00* Plaza Transfer

568 5300 650.68" Barthelmy Joseph

6569 0 Void * Vaid

§70 6680 600.00" Larry Motta

571 6680 300,00* Lsrry Motta

572 5300 2,400.00 Rudy Caines

573 5300 38.00* Luis Laurencin

8§74 8300 226,05* Texaco Caribbean
[ 676 1201 0,300.00* Plaza Transfer

578 6690 303,76° Larry Motta

677 . 5300 1,200.00 Rudy Calnes

678 5300 291.00" The Glass Shop

679 5300 90.00* Ocean Systems

580 6300 200.00* Robert Rivera

681 6680 307.66 Larry Mottd

§82 8150 148,88 STSJ Telephone

583 6300 60.00 Lonis Laurencin

684 5300 748.00 The Glass Shop

686 2200 1,667.14 Gross Receipts - Dec. 1895

686 5260 1687.60 Bryant, White

56,106.77}

7BV 966
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File: \BEN\TENANT96\013196.WK3

Virgin lelands Community Bank
Acoount #182-600135
Tendnt Account

Check # _ G/L Acot, #

Feb__ruary 1896

Disbursements

587
5&8
E89
680
691
692
593
504
595
596
697
g98
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
€06
€07
608
608
610
611
612
€18

5300
6680
66890
5300
6260
6300
65300
6280
6690
6690
B400
6150
300
5300
6680
6690
5300
5300
5300
6600
5300
6690
6150
6710
2200
6150

0

v1,000,00 *

Page 1 of 3

1,600.00 * Alired Ferrol

Robert Rivera
Larry Motia
Rudt Calnes
WAPA

Pan Am Dist.
Pan Am Dist.
WAPA

Robart Rlvera
Larry Motta

8t. Crolx Avis
VITELCO

Enger Phillips
Alfred Ferrol
Robenrt Rivera
Larry Motta
Dad V. Onestop
Ocean System
James Estridge
Robert Rivera
Sunny Refridg.
tarry Matta
VITELCO

Usra Yusut

V... B..R.— Gross Tax
STSJ Telephone
Vold

072-2052

FY 014967
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Virgin Islands Community Bank AJE #2

Acocount #182—600135

Tenant Account

1998
614 6690 200.00 * Raoberto Rivera
5 0 ,000.f aze Exira

616 6300 267.00 ¥ Erol Lindsey
617 6630 304,70 * Larry Motta
(618 1201 34,98 * Plaza Exira |
619 6690 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
620 5300 46,60 * Frederick Barry
621 6690 300,00 * Larry Motla
622 6250 007.63* WAPA
623 6250 220,46 * WAPA
624 8690 200,00 * Roberto Rivera
625 8300 180,00 * Errol Lindsey .
626 6690 814,26 * Larry Motta
627 5300 1,200,00 Rudy Caines
628 6160 v 134.85 ST8J Telgphene
629 £300 218,60 Roof tops
B30 6690 200.00 ¢ Roberto Rlvera
631 6690 811.26* Larry Motta
632 65300 1,200,00 Rudy Calnes
633 6150 V3316 * Viteleo
634 2200 1,0869.07 VIBIR — Gross Recelpts — Feb 1996

072-2053

FY 014968
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Page 1 of3

Virgin Islands Community Bank G/L #1058 AJE #2
Acooupnt #182-600135
Tenant Account
635 6690 200.00* Roberto Rivera
636 6680 800,00 Larry Motta
637 5300 1,500.00 * Rudt Calnes
638 5300 90,00 * Qcean Systems
639 5300 30.00* Edger Phillips
640 6250 962,02 * WAFPA
841 1201 6,000.00 * Plaza Transfer |
642 6680 160.00 * Roberto Rlvera
643 6300 55,97 * Glldden Paint
644 6250 321.94* WAPA
845 8690 305.97 * Larry Motta
646 6400 127.50 St Crolx Avis
647 5250 2,247.43* Bryant, White
648 5250 37.50 * Bryant, White
[649 1201 6,98 * PlazaTransler |
650 5350 34,10 * ferst e Supply
6561 66390 200,00 * Roberto Rivera
652 6690 301.70* Larry Motta
653 6760 ¥2,400,00 Internal Revenue Service—F.Yusuf
664 6840 ./500.00* V. of lnternal Rev, ~F.Yusuf
(655 1201 5,000,00 * P fer
656 0 Vold™ Voeld
657 5300 1,008.33 * Joe Greenway
€58 6890 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
|659 1201 2,000,00 Plaza Transfer |
660 6690 302,95 * Larry Motla
661 5300 2,800,00 * Gregory Schusler
662 5300 6,234.00  Florida Welding
|663 1201 £,000.00 Plaza Transfer
664 6160 ~ 41.98
665 5300 436.46 s
666 6690 200.00 Robharto Rivera
667 6630 800.00 Larry Motla
668 5300 1,800,00 Rudy Caines
669 6160 30.01 * Vitelco
670 6850 1,366.72 V.|, Bureau of Intsrnal Revenue
Total:

072-2054
FY 014969
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Virgin Islands Community Bank

Account #182-600136

Tenant Account

Page 1 of 1

G/L #1058 AJE #2

671 4500 492,00 * Crowley American

672 6710 800.00 * Joseph Greenway

673 £§300 90,00 * QOcean Systems

674 6690 200.00 * HRoberto Rivera

675 6690 300.00 * Larry Motta

676 6710 20,76 St Crolx

677 62E0 1,100.09 WAPA

678 8250 383,66 * WAPA

679 5300 1,561,860 * Superior Block

680 6050 1,117.84 * Carlbe Do—It Center

681 6690 300.00 * Larry Motta

682 6690 200,00 * Robert Rivera

683 6300 1,200,00 * Rudy Calnes

684 6150 291.42* Cellular One

685 6050 1,145,94 * Carba Do—(l Center

686 6710 400,24 * Shnama
(687 1201 4,000.00 Plaga Extra — Transfer | <~
688 6690 200.00 * Robert Rivera

689 5300 263.00 * Joseph Greenway

690 6690 304.40 * Larry Motla

691 1201 13,000,00 * Plaza Exira - Transler <
692 120 1,500, aza Exira — Transfer

6050 3,056,60 * Canba Do—NCenter < —

694 6710 30,00 * Olson Willlams

695 5800 268.38 * Pet—Lock Electrical Supply
| 696 1201 3,500.00 Plaza Exfra — Transfer | <
697 5300 1,036.06 * Floor Speclalists

698 5300 128,94 * Qlidden Paint Co.

699 6690 316,00 * Larry Motta

700 6680 200,00 * Raobert Rivera

701 5300 306.16 Sonny's Refridgeration

702 6050 454,15 * Caribe Do-It Center

703 5300 441.84 * Glidden Palnt Co.

704 0 Vold* Vold

705 0 Vold* Void

706 6050 88.00 * Caribe Do-It Center

707 5300 40.00 ABC Services

708 2200 1,184.04 VIBIR — Gross Recelpts — Aprll 1996
(709 1201 5,500.00 Plaza Extra — Transfer | <«
710 6050 599.00 Carlbe Do—It Center

711 5300 486.00 Gulf Coast Custom Kitchen

712 6690 200.00 Robert Rivera

I
072-205%

FY 014970
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Virgin Islands Community Bank
Account #182—600135

Tenant Account

Page 1 of 8

G/L #1058 AJE #2
713 6150 v 2493 * Vitelco
714 6150 19926 * Global Telephone
715 6250 96997 * WAPA
716 6690 300.00 * Larry Motta
717 5300 \/5:099.99 ¢
718 5300 254.05 ¢
[719 1201 5,000.00 * Plaza Transfer |
720 6250 27793 * WAPA
721 6690 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
722 5300 18.99 * Plaza Extra
723 6690 30000 * Larry Motta
724 4500 290.00 * Bates Trucking
[725 1201 3,500.00 * Plaza Transfer |
726 6690 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
[727 1201 10,000.00 * Plaza Transfer |
728 6710 1,202.17 * Laureach Francis
729 6690 300:00 * Larry Motta
730 5300 1,900:00 Rudy Cainés
731 5250 4.50 * Bryant, White et al
732 5300 31893 * Plaza Transfer
733 6115 09.00 * t Center
734 6150 154.55
735 6115 1,504.95 * Caribe Do—~It Center
736 6690 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
737 6690 31943 * Larry Motta
738 6150 v 4030* Vitelco
739 5300 90.00 * Ocean System
[740 1201 6,000.00 Plaza Transfer | & —
741 5300 33600 * V.1, Cement
[ 742 1201 2,000.00 Plaza Transfer | D —
743 2200 1,288.54  Gross Receipts
744 6690 200.00 Roberto Rivera
745 6690 31062 Larry Motta
746 5300 1,600.00 Rudy Caines
Total:
072‘2055

FY 014971
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Virgin Islands Community Bank

Account #182-600135

Tenant Account

Page 1 of 1

G/L #1058 AJE #1

747 6250 1 99602 * WAPA

[748 1201 1,000.00 * Plaza Transfer |

749 5300 695.52 * Quality Electric

750 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera

[751 1201 4,182.00 *_Plaza Transfer |

752 6690 306,69 * Larry Motta

753 5300 90,00 * Ocean Systems

754 0 Void * Vold

755 6250 450,54 * WAPA

758 5300 4,500:00 * Jeseph Greenway

757 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera

758 6690 300,00 * larry Motta

759 5300 1,900.00 * Rudy Calnes

760 5400 231.00 ¢ St, Croix Avis

761 5300 500,00 * Jeseph Greenway

762 6150 v 93.60 * Telephone

763 6710 200,00 * Roberto Rivera

764 6710 200,00 * Roberto Rivera

765 6150 V3630 * Vitelco

766 6650 300.00 * Larry Motta

767 5300 1,824.00 ¢ VI Cement

768 6690 31520 ¢ Larry Motta

769 6250 938.16 * WAPA

770 6650 1,231.24 * Gross Receipts — June 1996
7711 1199 17,000.00 * Mohamcd Y. Hamdan — Interest Payment

| <—

G/L #1058

072-2057
FY 014972
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Page 1 of 3

Virgin Islands Community Bank G/L #1058 AJE #2
Account #182—600135
Tenant Account
Aupust 1996
Check #  G/L Acct, # Disbursements
[772 1201 10,000.00 * Plaza Extra_|
773 6710 200,00 * Roberto Rivera
774 5300 415.00 Joseph Greenway
715 6690 319,40 * Larry Motta
776 5300 593.90 * Sonny's A/C Services
T 5300 90.00 * Ocean Systems Lab
778 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
179 5300 1,900.00 * Rudy Caines
780 6690 300.00 * Larry Motta
781 6250 237.30 * WAPA
[ 782 1201 3,500.00 * Plaza Fxtra
788 5300 825.00 * Adantic Elevafor Sales
784 5800 10.75* Postage
785 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
786 6250 13,49 * WAPA
i vk 6690 300.00 * Larry Motta
788 1201 4,300.00 Plaza _lELuma_é_!
789 6710 200,00 Roberto Kiver
790 6690 300,00 * Larry Motta
791 6150 L,267.72  Telephone
(792 1201 12,00000 Plaza Extra_|
793 6650 1,195.02 Gross Receipis Tax
794 6710 200.00 Roberto Rivera
795 6150 v/ 3244 Telephone
796 6690 30000 Larry Motta
797 6250 393,82 WAPA
798 5300 2,000,00 Rudy Caines
(TR

072-2058
FY 014973
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Page 1 of 1

Virgin Islands Community Bank G/L #1058 AJE #2 J
Account #182-600135

Tenant Account

September 1996

799 6250 307.97 * WAPA
800 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
801 5300 90.00 * Ocean Systems
802 5300 300.00 Rudy Calnes
803 6690 300.00 * Larry Moatta
804 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
805 6690 303.42 * Larry Motta
806 6150 137.95 * Telephone
807 6710 111.60 * Cruz Rivera
808 2635 4,086.62 * Tropical Shipping - Ship Auto
[ 809 1201 950.00  Plaza Extra | <
810 5300 320.00 STX Trading - Building Materials
811 6710 200,00 * Robetto Rivera
812 6690 300.00 Larry Motta
813 6150 38.30 ¢ Telephone
814 5150 225.00 * Brammer Chasen & O'Connell
815 6710 200.00 Roberto Rivera
816 5300 90.00 Qcean Systems
817 5300 1,022,.50 Qer Services
818 6115 549.19  Carib-Do-It-Center
819 6690 300.00 Larry Motta
820 6250 399,18 ¥ WAPA
821 6650 1,271.85 Gross Recelpts Tax - Aug. 1996
11 .58

072-200s
FY 014974
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Page 1 of 1

Gross Receipts Tax — Sept. 1996

Virgin Islands Community Bank G/L #1058 AJE #2
Account #182—600135
Tenzant Account
Qctober 1996
Check #  G/L Acct. # Disbursements
[ 822 1201 12,000,00 * Plaza Transfer |
823 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
824 6250 1,478,14 * WAPA
825 6690 312,00 * Larry Motta
826 5300 1,900.00 * Rudy Caines
827 6710 200.00 * Roberto Rivera
828 6690 300.00 * Larry Motta
829 6710 65.00 * Pedro Huggins
830 0 Void * Void
831 5300 §50.00 * Sun Electric
832 6710 130.00 * Pedro Huggins
833 6250 1349 * WAPA
834 6710 200,00 * Roberto Rivera
835 6690 343,92 * Larry Motta
83 5300 35.00 * Ocean Systems
837 6150 84.83 * Vitelco
838 0 Vold * Void
839 6710 200,00 * Roberto Rivera
840 6710 $5.00 * Pedro Huggins
841 6690 326.75 * Larry Motta
842 6650 1,052.23
843 6710 2500 Pedro Huggins
844 6150 208.93 STSJ Telephone
[ 19,780.29 |

FPORS7s
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Vitgin Islands Community Bank
Account #182-600135

Tenant Ac¢count

845

847
848
849
850
851
852
853
854
8s5
856
857
BS8
859
860
861
862
863
864
865
866
867
868

Page 1 of 1

200.00 *
320.56 *
3250+
150.00 *
285.00 +
969.55 *
423.60 *
2,830.00 *
2,830.00 ¢+
200.00 «
13,49 *
1,900,00 *
300.00 *
200.00 *
300.00 *
218.55
350.00 *
703.00 *
200.00 *
300.00 *
90.00
200.00
40.00
305.49

Roberto Rivera

Larry Motta

Trapical Supply

Pedro Huggins

Sun Blectric

WAPA

WAPA

Estate Carlton Home Owners
Estate Carlton Home Owners
Roberio Rivera

WAPA

Rudy Calnes

Larry Motta

Roberto Rivera

Larry Motta

STSJ Telephone
Norman Willlams
General Purpose Blectric
Roberto Rivera

Larry Motta

Ocean Sysiems

Roberto Rivera

Vitaleo

Larry Motta
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December 1996
Check ¢ . G/L Acct, f, _ _Disbursements

774 415.00  Joseph Greenway - 08/02/96
|ﬁ9 1,000.00 * Plaza Extra | <
870 1,215.2 - Gross Recelpts
871 572.07 * WAPA

872 200.00 * Roberto Rivera

873 178,75 Sonny's Refridgeration
874 300.00 * Larry Motta

875 2,300,00 * Ruﬂ Caines

876 1,148.86 * WAPA

877 34,10 * Perst Office Supplies
§78 200,00 * Roberto Rivera

879 300.00 * Lamry Motta

880 13.49 * WAPA

881 11.65 * Sprint

882 156,00 * American Express

883 200,00 * Raberte Rivera

§84 300,00 * Larry Motta

885 300,00 * James Esiridge

886 200.00 * STX Gas

887 432,00 * Lancing Charles

888 291.00  General Purpose Bleotric
889 200,00 Roberto Rivera

890 90.00 Qcean Systems

s f9.643.18)
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EXHIBIT 9A



N STATEMENT DATE
01/31/9¢

UNITED CORP
TENANT ACCOUNT | — o 0
PO EBOX 763 ) I
CHRISTIANSTED VI @OSZ1 = e .

| 018260017

ACCOUNT NO.
- RN R

T T A Ay AT, P v s O RS
t%% CHECKING #*#%% BUSINESS CHECKING

A\CCOUNT NUMBER V18Ze00Ll3n TAX ID NUMBER 65-O3P1E3T _
SREVIOUS STATEMENT BALANCE AS OF 12/31/9% cvescsnsnncccannumanecne 104,531.0
FLUS 3¢ DEPDSITS AND DTHER CREDITS .ueeccccncsnnamnsvaenn 444503726
LESE 263 CHECKS AND OTHER DEBITE ..ccvecceccaacnamenmeenens 524365, 1¢
_LESS CYCLE SERVICE CHARGE cnscasnsnmsanasnannas - L 7.5e
“URRENT STATEMENT BALANCE AS DF 91/31/94 ..... casenns cnesesenmunsua FEN 24T LB
JUMEER OF DAYS IN THIS STATEMENT PERIOD 31

*%% CHECK TRANSACTIONS *%%

SERIAL DATE AMIDUNT SERIAL DATE AMOUNT
55T 01702 200,00 B63 Q1/1% 652 .58
ez 21/63 96,00 570% ©1/16& &0, 00
S0 O1/17 160,00 571 0L/16 300.00
5l Bl1/02 2+242.76 572% O1/25 35.00
Rel a1/04 306,00 =2 254 .08
Bed @1/682 6432, TE B7S 01/24 205300,00 | L
Bsad R1/1% Q.00 576 Ql1/24 115 )C I B u]
BaE @l1/02 Fuid , A0 575% ©@1/30 &1 .00
B 6B1/16 ZT 20 579 01/39 90,90
| 5&7 e1/11 15,700,006 | <—— 20 01/31 200 .00
*%% CHECKING ACCOUNT TRANSACTIONS #*%%* L
DATE DESCRIFTION DERITS CREDITE
?1/@3 DEPOSIT 700 .00
?1/@3 DEFOSIT : 1:557.00
A1/7604 DEFOSIT 475,00
al/94 DEROSIT 1+ Z206.00
»1/764 DEFOSIT 1:EB62.50
a1/69 DEFOSIT G265, 00
ai1/92 DEPDSIT 732 .50
A1/70% DEFOSIT 1s18A8.67
a1/09 DEFPOSIT Z4100.33
A1/92 DEPOSIT Z.187.50
at/o% DERPOSIT 31000, 00
31/11 DEFOZIT 731 .25
31712 DEFPOSIT 100,00
31 /12 DEFUISIT 00 .00
31/1% DEFOEIT AT .00
31 /12 DEFOSIT 500 .00
31 /14 DEFPOSIT 1+ 2560.00
1/14 DEPOSIT 1+ 250,00
31/17 DEPDOSIT s 168,67
Ai/713 DEFOSIT 200 .00
31 /19 DEFOQSIT 325,00
31 /1% DEPOSIT R0, 00
31/1% DEFOSIT 71 400,00
21/Z24 DEFPOSIT Z9193.50 i
21/2% DEFDSIT Z291.2 SR
31 /29 DEFOSIT 3,5@@.@6
31/26 DEFQSIT 550 .00
21 /30 DERPOSIT Z oy 500, B0
31 /21 DEPOSIT ZQQ-@@
31 /21 DEFOSIT Z,550.00
11 /21 CYCLE SERVICE CHARGE 7 .50
072-1828
Hamed v, United & Yusuf - Def's Produgtiopem—s
N_O'[E:::;;see,,ngeggg&ggcgnmumamlmamnq
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UNITED CORP

TENANT ACCOUNT

PO BOX 763
CHRISTIANSTED VI 003zl

xxx BALANCE BY DATE ¥xx i
z/31 AE @170 1045281.02 Q1/603 106.443.02  01/64 169,385.5¢
1702 01767  115.695.00  oi/i@  116,577.26  @1/11  19@,489.0%
A P1/is  193.934.05 01/17  196.000.7¢  01/18  195.200.7¢
171 o1/Z2  11%,779.0%7  al/Z4 S5,37%.71  @1/E5 £5 344,71
L @1/ 1,905.12  01/31 DE s 24T AT

072-1829

Hamed v. United & Yusuf - Def's Production
" NOTE: SEE REVERSE SIDE#OHIMPORTANT INFORMATION




UNITED CORF
TEMANT ACCOUNT
PO BOX 783

CHRISTIANETED VI oozzi

¥ A By R e R O T VAL R

-9 CHEC&ING *#% BUTINES CHECLING
WCCOUNT NUMEER @1dhc@614

S B Y. LR 2 BT
. S %ﬁ?f‘mﬁ.&.

REVICHIS STATEMENT RALANCE AS OF G1/31/9% wesessasscssnuasscnnnanns OE 1247 . &2
PLUS 22 DEPDSITS AND OTHER CREDITE ..euuvccsscacnmnncnnns 294952.32
LESS Z3E  CHECKS AND OTHER DEBITS cevvesnsccrananacuanonnons ~ 14,848
L-Er‘" CY(.LE DFRVICE C‘HARGE e = E N R NS N RS E SN RN

JURRENT STATEMENT BALANCE AS OF BZ/